

Departamento de Biodiversidad y Gestión Ambiental

Área de Ecología

Tesis doctoral

APLICACIÓN DE HERRAMIENTAS DE TELEDETECCIÓN MULTIESCALA PARA LA CARACTERIZACIÓN ESPACIAL DE INDICADORES Y CONDICIONANTES DEL IMPACTO ECOLÓGICO DE LOS INCENDIOS FORESTALES

David Beltrán Marcos

Programa de Doctorado: Ecología Funcional y Aplicada

Directores:

Dr. María Leonor Calvo Galván

Dr. Susana Suárez Seoane

Dr. José Manuel Fernández Guisuraga

León, diciembre 2023





Department of Biodiversity and Environmental Management

Ecology area

PhD Thesis

APPLICATION OF MULTI-SCALE REMOTE SENSING TOOLS FOR SPATIAL CHARACTERIZATION OF INDICATORS AND DRIVERS OF FIRE-INDUCED ECOLOGICAL

IMPACT

David Beltrán Marcos

Doctorate program: Functional and Applied Ecology

Supervisors:

Dr. María Leonor Calvo Galván

Dr. Susana Suárez Seoane

Dr. José Manuel Fernández Guisuraga

León, December 2023





David beltrán marcos

Application of multi-scale remote sensing tools for spatial characterization of indicators and drivers of fire-induced ecological impact

> PhD Thesis 2023 Department of Biodiversity and Environmental Management Functional and Applied Ecology Doctorate Program

Pictures on the PhD Thesis cover and back cover:

- Cover: Coniferous forest canopies affected by different burn severity categories (David Beltrán Marcos)
- Back cover: NASA Earth Observatory image of Navalacruz wildfire (central Spain, 2021) by Lauren Dauphin, using Landsat 8 OLI data from the U.S. Geological Survey.

© Authors. (Articles I and III).

© 2023 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved (Articles II and IV)

The present PhD Thesis was able to conduct thanks to a pre-doctoral contract granted to David Beltrán Marcos by the Department of Education of the Regional Government of Castile and León and by the European Social Fund (EDU/556/2019). The studies included in the PhD Thesis were financially supported by the Spanish Ministry of Science and Innovation, and the Next-Generation Funds of the European Union (EU) in the framework of the FIREMAP project (TED2021-130925B-I00); by the Spanish Ministry of Economy and Competitiveness, and the European Regional Development Fund (ERDF) in the framework of the FIRESEVES project (AGL2017-86075-C2-1-R); by the Spanish Ministry of Science and Innovation, the State Research Agency and the European Regional Development Fund (ERDF, EU) in the framework of the LANDSUSFIRE project (PID2022-139156OB-C21, PID2022-139156OB-C22); by the Regional Government of Castile and León in the framework of SEFIRECYL (LE001P17) and WUIFIRECYL (LE005P20) projects; and by the Regional Government of the Principality of Asturias, the Foundation for the Promotion of Applied Scientific Research and Technology in Asturias (FICYT) and the European Regional Development Fund (ERDF) in the framework of the REWLDING project (AYUD/2021/51261).

This Doctoral Thesis has the possibility of obtaining the mention of International Doctorate thanks to a single support granted by the University of León's Research Grants Programme 2023 to David Beltrán Marcos to carry out a research stay at the Instituto Politecnico de Bragança (Portugal).

La presente Tesis Doctoral se ha podido realizar gracias a un contrato predoctoral concedido a David Beltrán Marcos por la Consejería de Educación de la Junta de Castilla y León y por el Fondo Social Europeo (EDU/556/2019). Los estudios incluidos en la Tesis Doctoral han sido financiados por el Ministerio de Ciencia e Innovación, y los Fondos de Nueva Generación de la Unión Europea (UE) en el marco del proyecto FIREMAP (TED2021-130925B-I00); por el Ministerio de Economía y Competitividad, y el Fondo Europeo de Desarrollo Regional (FEDER) en el marco del proyecto FIRESEVES (AGL2017-86075-C2-1-R); por el Ministerio de Ciencia e Innovación, la Agencia Estatal de Investigación y el Fondo Europeo de Desarrollo Regional (FEDER, UE) en el marco del proyecto LANDSUSFIRE (PID2022-139156OB-C21, PID2022-139156OB-C22); por la Junta de Castilla y León en el marco de los proyectos SEFIRECYL (LE001P17) y WUIFIRECYL (LE005P20); y por el Gobierno del Principado de Asturias, la Fundación para el Fomento de la Investigación Científica Aplicada y la Tecnología en Asturias (FICYT) y el Fondo Europeo de Desarrollo Regional (FEDER) en el marco del proyecto REWLDING (AYUD/2021/51261).

La presente Tesis Doctoral tiene la posibilidad de obtener la mención de Doctorado Internacional gracias a una única ayuda concedida por el Programa Propio de Ayudas a la investigación 2023 de la Universidad de León a David Beltrán Marcos para la realización de una estancia de investigación en el Instituto Politécnico de Bragança (Portugal).

Application of multi-scale remote sensing tools for spatial characterization of indicators and drivers of fire-induced ecological impact

PhD student	David Beltrán Marcos	
Supervisor	Dr. María Leonor Calvo Galván	Dr. Susana Suárez Seoane
	Department of Biodiversity and Environmental Management University of León León, Spain	Department of Organisms and Systems Biology and Biodiversity Research Mixed Institute (IMIB) University of Oviedo - CSIC Oviedo and Mieres, Spain
	Dr. José Manuel	Fernández Guisuraga
	Department of Biodiversity and Environmental Management University of León León, Spain	Centre for Research and Agro- environmental and Biological Technologies University of Trás-os-Montes and Alto Douro Vila Real, Portugal
Supervisor of the international stay	Dr. Pablo Sarricolea Espinoza	Dr. João Carlos Azevedo
	Department of Geography University of Chile Santiago de Chile, Chile	Mountain Research Centre (CIMO) Polytechnic Institute of Bragança Bragança, Portugal
External	Dr. Humberto Perotto	Dr. Sergio Godinho
	Department of Rangeland, Wildlife & Fisheries Management. Land Management Texas A&M University	Department EaRSLab—Earth Remote Sensing Laboratory
	Texas, EEUU	Universidade de Evora Évora, Portugal
Doctorate program	Functional and Applied Ecology	
	University of León León, Spain	Viervergenzuer
Year of publication	2023; León, Spain	universidad
Online publication	https://buleria.unileon.es	

"Science is never completely right, but it is rarely completely wrong and generally has a better chance of being right than non-scientific theories."

"La ciencia nunca tiene toda la razón, pero rara vez se equivoca del todo y, por lo general, tiene más posibilidades de acertar que las teorías no científicas".

Bertrand Russell

"No one should believe himself perfect or worry too much about the fact that he is not." "Nadie debería creerse perfecto, ni preocuparse demasiado por el hecho de no serlo."

Bertrand Russell

Dedicated to my mother and Lidia,

For teaching me to resist, and resisting with me.

Dedicado a mi madre y a Lidia,

Por enseñarme a resistir, y resistir conmigo.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT
RESUMEN
1. INTRODUCTION
Fire regimes in the Mediterranean Basin25
Soil burn severity monitoring through passive remote sensing techniques
Indicators of fire-induced ecological change on forest soils
Estimation of vegetation characteristics driving burn severity by remote sensing data 31
Challenges of the new generation wildfires: vulnerability of the wildland-urban interface to high burn severity
Research justification
2. OBJECTIVES
3. CONCEPTUAL THESIS DIAGRAM
4. STUDY SITES
5. RESULTS
<i>Article I</i>
Article II
Article III74
<i>Article IV</i>
6. GENERAL DISCUSSION
Soil burn severity assessment and characterization of biophysical contexts conducive to extreme fire behavior by using passive remote sensing techniques
Scientific-based support for pre-fire management in non-WUI and WUI areas
7. CONCLUSIONS
8. CONCLUSIONES
9. AGRADECIMIENTOS 100

Abstract

ABSTRACT

In recent decades, anthropogenic activity has caused remarkable changes in the fire regime attributes in the western Mediterranean Basin, mainly due to the loss of traditional land use derived from rural abandonment, climate change and the absence of adequate forest management strategies, leading to a dense and continuous accumulation of fire-prone biomass. The new fire regime, characterized by an increase in the frequency of extensive and severe wildfires, affects important ecosystem functions and services, with unprecedented impacts at socioeconomic level. This fact is particularly relevant in wildland urban interface (WUI) areas, where extreme wildfires represent a serious threat to human life and assets. In this context, spatial characterization of fireinduced impact, commonly referred to as burn severity, is crucial to provide scientific basis to design appropriated forest management strategies that enhance adaptive responses to current fire regimes. Field methods are considered highly trustworthy for assessing the impacts on vegetation and soils in burned landscapes, though they often lack spatial exhaustiveness to evaluate large wildfires. Therefore, remote sensing methods have emerged as reliable tools for monitoring and quantifying burn severity because of their cost-effectiveness and synoptic nature. In this context, the main objective of this PhD Thesis is the development of new multiscale remote sensing techniques aimed to identify spatial indicators of fire-induced ecological impacts and evaluate the drivers of extreme wildfire behavior under different fire regimes along an Iberian climatic gradient, with particular focus in WUIs due to their high socioeconomic vulnerability.

First, we aimed to improve the estimation of burn severity in forest soils, which are critical ecosystem compartments driving ecosystem functions and processes, by linking ecological indicators of burn severity with the spectral signal of very high spatial resolution remote sensing products obtained with unmanned aerial vehicles (UAV) (Articles I & II). Soil burn severity was assessed in the field 1-month after a wildfire through a Composite Burn Soil Index (CBSI) and, a set of individual indicators (ash depth, ash cover, fine debris cover, coarse debris cover and unstructured soil depth). Furthermore, indicative soil properties of fire-induced changes were analyzed: mean weight diameter (MWD), soil moisture content (SMC), and soil organic carbon (SOC). Simultaneously, post-fire multispectral images from the Sentinel-2A MSI satellite sensor, and RGB and multispectral images from a UAV survey were collected. We found that UAV multispectral products had a better performance than RGB products for estimating fire impacts on soils, being more related to integrative indices (ie., CBSI) than to individual indicators (Article I). Depth and ash cover were the most representative indicators of fire effects on soils. The inclusion of spatially and spectrally enhanced remote sensing data through novel remote sensing techniques, such as the fusion of Sentinel-2 and UAV images, significantly improved the prediction of fire-sensitive soil properties highly related to burn severity, mainly SOC (Article II). This approach provides a powerful tool for estimating fire impacts in complex and heterogeneous landscapes affected by mixed severity wildfires, and consequently to identify priority areas where post-fire restoration actions need to be implemented.

Once the potential ecological impact of high severity wildfires has been adequately characterized using new remote sensing techniques, we studied fire regime shifts conducive to extreme fire behavior along an Atlantic-Transition-Mediterranean climatic gradient in the Iberian Peninsula

Abstract

(Article III), characterized by the occurrence of extreme wildfire events in the last few years. For this purpose, we analyzed (i) the variation patterns of temporal (recurrence and time since last fire) and magnitude (burn severity) fire regime attributes over 35-years using historical wildfire scars derived from Landsat satellite imagery collection, and (ii) the link between fire regime and pre-fire vegetation characteristics controlling extreme fire behavior. We selected eight extreme wildfires occurring during the period 2017-2022, in which we characterized both (i) the pre-fire fuel type and structure by means of image classification techniques and radiative transfer models (RTMs), and (ii) the ecological impact through the differenced Normalized Burn Ratio (dNBR) derived from bi-temporal Sentinel-2 MSI images. Fire recurrence showed the same downward trend along the climatic gradient, burn severity trends significantly differed among Atlantic and Mediterranean areas. The observed shifts in fire regime attributes had a remarkable influence in shaping fuel types and build-up patterns in landscapes prone to extreme fire behavior along the climate gradient but following distinct pathways as a function of the environmental context. In Atlantic areas, recurrent wildfires of low to moderate severity may foster forest transitions to shrubland stable states prone to high burn severity feedback in subsequent wildfires. A similar pattern was observed in Mediterranean and Transition shrublands after the recurrence of high burn severity wildfires. Under all climatic conditions, long times since the last high-severity wildfires may enhance fuel build-up in conifer forests and shrublands highly prone to extreme fire behavior.

Finally, we broadened the generated knowledge about the biophysical contexts shaping extreme fire behavior in wildland urban interface areas to identify the scenarios prone to high burn severity in WUI areas due the growing concern about the socio-economic and environmental implications (*Article IV*). For this purpose, we chose fourteen large wildfires occurred between 2016 and 2021 across Spain that encompassed different WUI typologies. Density and distance between buildings criteria was used to differentiate isolated, scattered, dense and very dense WUIs, while several pre-fire fuel characteristics inside WUI areas were estimated through multispectral satellite imagery, following the methodology used in the *Article III*. Then, the combined effect of pre-fire fuel and building density patterns was used to recognize the WUI scenarios most prone to extreme fire behavior. Isolated, scattered and sparsely clustered buildings enclosed in a dense shrub matrix were the WUI typologies with the highest fire hazard. Additionally, WUIs dominated by sparse trees with a dense and continuous shrubby understory constituted another critical typology prone to severe fire impacts. We highlighted the role of pre-fire fuel management to minimize the risk to human lives and assets, particularly under increasing human pressure in WUI areas.

The results obtained in this PhD Thesis allowed to predict priority scenarios for effective land use planning, wildfire prevention and management strategies, community education, and collaborative efforts in WUI areas, which are essential to address the challenges posed by newgeneration wildfires to population in rural areas. We emphasize that the reduction of homogeneous fuel types, particularly shrub fuels around isolated and dispersed WUIs must be a priority intervention line. These actions should focus on breaking the fuel horizontal continuity and encouraging the development of diverse landscape mosaics to foster resistance and resilience to fire. This target can be achieved by supporting sustainable and traditional activities such as extensive livestock grazing or silvicultural actions by work crews, which is essential for population fixation in sociologically relevant areas such as WUIs.



Resumen

En las últimas décadas, la actividad antropogénica ha causado cambios notables en los atributos del régimen de incendios en los países de la cuenca del Mediterráneo occidental, debido principalmente a la pérdida de usos tradicionales derivados del abandono rural, el cambio climático y la falta de estrategias de gestión forestal adecuadas, lo que ha llevado a una acumulación de biomasa propensa a incendios. El nuevo régimen de incendios, caracterizado por un aumento en la frecuencia de incendios forestales extensos y severos, afecta a importantes funciones y servicios de los ecosistemas, con impactos sin precedentes a nivel socioeconómico. Este hecho es especialmente relevante en las zonas de interfaz urbano-forestal (WUI), donde los incendios forestales extremos representan una grave amenaza para la vida humana y los bienes. En este contexto, la caracterización espacial del impacto inducido por el fuego, comúnmente como como severidad del fuego, es crucial para proporcionar una base científica que permita diseñar estrategias de gestión forestal adecuadas que mejoren la respuesta adaptativa de los ecosistemas a los regímenes de incendios actuales. Los métodos de campo se consideran muy fiables para evaluar los impactos en la vegetación y el suelo en paisajes quemados, aunque a menudo carecen de la exhaustividad espacial que permita evaluar incendios forestales de gran tamaño. Por ello, los métodos de teledetección han surgido como herramientas fiables el seguimiento y la cuantificación de la severidad a gran escala debido a su rentabilidad y su naturaleza sinóptica. En este contexto, el objetivo principal de esta Tesis Doctoral es el desarrollo de nuevas técnicas de teledetección multiescala dirigidas a identificar indicadores espaciales de los impactos ecológicos inducidos por el fuego y evaluar los impulsores del comportamiento extremo de los incendios forestales bajo diferentes regímenes de fuego a lo largo de un gradiente climático ibérico, con especial atención a las WUIs debido a su alta vulnerabilidad socioeconómica.

En primer lugar, se pretendió mejorar la estimación de la severidad del fuego en los suelos forestales, que son compartimentos críticos del ecosistema que impulsan las funciones y procesos del ecosistema, vinculando indicadores ecológicos de la severidad con la señal espectral de productos de teledetección de muy alta resolución espacial obtenidos con vehículos aéreos no tripulados (UAV) (Artículos I y II). La severidad del fuego en el suelo se evaluó en el campo 1 mes después de un incendio forestal a través de un Índice Compuesto de Severidad en el Suelo (CBSI), y de un conjunto de indicadores individuales (profundidad y cobertura de la capa de cenizas, cobertura de restos finos, cobertura de restos gruesos y profundidad de suelo desestructurado). Además, se analizaron propiedades de suelo potencialmente indicadoras de cambios inducidos por el fuego: diámetro medio ponderado (MWD), contenido de humedad del suelo (SMC) y carbono orgánico del suelo (SOC). Simultáneamente, se recolectaron imágenes multiespectrales posteriores al incendio del sensor satelital Sentinel-2A MSI (resolución espacial moderada) e imágenes RGB y multiespectrales procedentes de un vuelo UAV (resolución espacial muy alta). Se ha encontrado que los productos multiespectrales UAV tenían mejor rendimiento para estimar la variación del impacto del fuego en el suelo que los productos RGB, estando más relacionados con índices multi-integrados (es decir, CBSI) que con indicadores individuales (Artículo I). La profundidad y la cobertura de cenizas fueron los indicadores más representativos de los efectos del fuego en los suelos. La inclusión de datos de teledetección espacial y espectral

Resumen

mejorados mediante técnicas novedosas de teledetección, como la fusión de imágenes de Sentinel-2 y UAV, mejoró significativamente la predicción de las propiedades del suelo sensibles al fuego, relacionadas en gran medida con la severidad, principalmente el SOC (*Artículo II*). Este enfoque proporciona una herramienta importante para estimar los impactos del fuego en paisajes complejos y heterogéneos afectados por incendios de severidad mixta, y, en consecuencia, para identificar áreas prioritarias donde se deben implementar acciones de restauración posteriores al incendio.

Una vez que se caracterizó adecuadamente el impacto ecológico potencial de los incendios forestales de alta severidad, se estudió que cambios del régimen de incendios pueden dirigir el comportamiento extremo del fuego, aspecto que se ha evaluado a lo largo de un gradiente climático Atlántico-Transición-Mediterráneo en la Península Ibérica (Artículo III), caracterizado por la ocurrencia de eventos extremos de incendios forestales en los últimos años. Con este propósito, se analizaron (i) los patrones de variación de los atributos temporales (recurrencia y tiempo desde el último incendio) y de magnitud (severidad de la quema) del régimen de incendios durante 35 años, utilizando para ello los perímetros históricos de incendios forestales derivados de la colección de imágenes de satélite Landsat, y (ii) la relación entre el régimen de incendios y las características de la vegetación previas al incendio que controlan el comportamiento extremo del fuego. Se seleccionaron ocho incendios extremos que ocurrieron durante el período 2017-2022, en los cuales se caracterizó tanto (i) el tipo y la estructura de los combustibles previos al incendio mediante técnicas de clasificación de imágenes y modelos de transferencia radiativa (RTMs), como (ii) el impacto ecológico a través del índice de Severidad de Diferencia Normalizada (dNBR) derivado de imágenes bitemporales del sátelite Sentinel-2 MSI. La recurrencia de incendios mostró la misma tendencia descendente en el tiempo a lo largo del gradiente climático, pero los patrones temporales de la severidad diferían significativamente entre las áreas Atlánticas y Mediterráneas. Los cambios observados en los atributos del régimen de incendios tuvieron una influencia notable en la formación de tipos de combustibles y en los patrones de acumulación en el paisaje propicios para el comportamiento extremo del fuego, pero siguiendo distintas vías en función del contexto ambiental. En las áreas Atlánticas, los incendios recurrentes de baja a moderada severidad pueden promover transiciones forestales hacia estados estables de matorrales propensos a retroalimentaciones de alta severidad en incendios posteriores. Un patrón similar se observó en los matorrales Mediterráneos y de Transición después de la ocurrencia repetida de incendios de alta severidad. En todas las condiciones climáticas, un largo periodo de tiempo transcurrido desde el último incendio de alta severidad puede favorecer la acumulación de combustibles en bosques de coníferas y matorrales, los cuales son altamente propensos al comportamiento extremo del fuego.

Por último, se ha ampliado el conocimiento científico generado sobre los contextos biológicos que definen el comportamiento extremo del fuego en áreas de interfaz urbano-forestal con el fin de identificar los escenarios propensos a una alta severidad en las áreas de WUI debido a la creciente preocupación sobre las implicaciones socioeconómicas y ambientales (*Artículo IV*). Con este propósito, se eligieron catorce grandes incendios forestales ocurridos entre 2016 y 2021

en toda España que abarcaron diferentes tipologías de áreas de WUI. Utilizando criterios de densidad y distancia entre edificios se diferenciaron áreas de WUI aisladas, dispersas, densas y muy densas, así mismo, se estimaron varias características de combustibles previos al incendio dentro de las áreas de WUI, para lo cual se utilizaron imágenes de satélite multiespectrales, siguiendo la metodología utilizada en el *Artículo III*. El efecto combinado de los patrones de combustibles previos al incendio y la densidad de edificios se utilizó para identificar los escenarios de WUI más propensos al comportamiento extremo del fuego. Las tipologías de WUI con edificios aislados, dispersos y agrupados de manera dispersa, rodeados de un denso matorral, fueron las que presentaron el mayor riesgo de incendio. Además, las áreas WUI dominadas por árboles dispersos con un sotobosque de matorral denso y continuo constituyeron otra tipología crítica propensa a impactos severos por incendios. Se ha puesto de relieve el papel de la gestión del combustible antes de los incendios para minimizar el riesgo para las vidas humanas y los bienes, en particular bajo la creciente presión humana en las zonas WUI.

Los resultados obtenidos en esta Tesis Doctoral permiten predecir escenarios prioritarios para una planificación efectiva del uso del suelo, estrategias de prevención y gestión de incendios forestales, educación comunitaria y esfuerzos colaborativos en áreas WUI, lo cual es esencial para abordar los desafíos planteados por los incendios forestales de nueva generación a la población en las zonas rurales. Se destaca que la reducción de tipos de combustibles homogéneos, en particular los combustibles de matorral alrededor de áreas de WUI aisladas y dispersas, debe ser una línea de intervención prioritaria. Estas acciones deben centrarse en romper la continuidad horizontal de los combustibles y fomentar el desarrollo de mosaicos paisajísticos diversos para promover la resistencia y la capacidad de recuperación frente al fuego. Esto se puede lograr apoyando actividades sostenibles y tradicionales, como el pastoreo extensivo de ganado o acciones silvícolas, lo cual es esencial para la fijación de la población en áreas sociológicamente relevantes como las áreas WUI.

INTRODUCTION

Fire regimes in the Mediterranean Basin

The terrestrial ecosystems of the Mediterranean Basin have been subject to frequent wildfires for millennia (Pausas et al., 2008; Moreira et al., 2023), representing one of the most fire-prone geographic territories worldwide (Keeley et al., 2012). The Mediterranean climate favors the accumulation of highly flammable fuels (e.g., pine woodlands and shrublands), which facilitates the incidence and spread of fires (Moreno et al., 2021). Currently, wildfires are considered one of the major ecological and social disturbances (Pausas and Vallejo, 1999; Johnstone et al., 2016) due to the significant loss of ecosystem services and economic resources (Lee et al., 2015). In this region, about half a million forest hectares are affected by wildfires every year (San-Miguel-Ayanz et al., 2021). They cause significant emissions of greenhouse gases (Migliavacca et al., 2013) and imbalances in the energy budget of the Earth's surface, and thus negatively impact the climate system (Archibald et al., 2018). For example, in southern European countries, wildfires destroyed 645,000 ha annually on average from 2017 to 2022 (San-Miguel-Ayanz et al., 2023), with singular extreme wildfire events affecting large areas (most of them over 10,000 hectares ha), becoming one of the worst fire seasons ever recorded in countries such as Spain (Chas-Amil et al., 2020; Fernández-Guisuraga et al., 2023a), Portugal (Rodrigues et al., 2023), Italy (Malandra et al., 2022), or Greece (Giannaros et al., 2022) (Fig. 1).

Although wildfires under natural fire regimes are an integral part of many Mediterranean ecosystems (Keeley et al., 2012), modulating both (i) vegetation adaptations to regenerate after fire (Calvo et al., 2008) and (ii) landscape diversity patterns in terms of functionality, structure and dynamics (Pausas et al., 2008), unprecedented fire regimes may lead to irreversible socioecological consequences in the Mediterranean Basin (Fernandes et al., 2016). During the last 50 years, human activity has caused remarkable changes in fire regime attributes, mainly due to the loss of traditional uses as a consequence of rural land abandonment (Pausas and Fernández-Muñoz, 2012), climate change (González-De Vega et al., 2016; Pausas and Keeley, 2021), and absent or inadequate forest management practices (Stephens et al., 2013; Moreira et al., 2020), driving to a dense and continuous accumulation of fire-prone fuels. Fire regime is a key concept in fire ecology studies, which reflects the temporal, spatial and magnitude variability of fire in a specific ecological system (Fernández-García et al., 2018a; Rundel et al., 2018), often being determinants of its resistance and resilience capacity in the face of wildfire disturbances (Huerta et al., 2022a). Among their temporal attributes, recurrence (number of fires in a given period), fire-free interval (the time since the last fire; TSLF) and fire return interval (mean time elapsed between fires) have played a key role in shaping plant communities (Fernández-García et al., 2020), with an evolution of fire-stimulated responses emerging based on a specific fire history (He et al., 2019). Closely linked to fire intensity, which correspond to the energy released by the fire in the combustion process (Keeley, 2009), burn severity is one of the most important fire regime attributes reflecting the magnitude of fire-induced ecological and socioeconomic impacts (Morgan et al., 2014). In this sense, burn severity is known as the degree of fire-induced ecological change (Key and Benson, 2006; Fernández-García et al., 2018b), and operationally quantified by the change or loss in above- and belowground ecosystem biomass (Keeley, 2009). Fire severity assessments have particular implications for land management and post-fire restoration strategies

(Gonzalez-Olabarria et al., 2019). Recent and anticipated shifts in the fire regime in southern Europe, marked by increased frequency, extent, and burn severity of wildfires (sixth generation wildfires; Resco de Dios, 2020), have the potential to strongly erode several functions and services provided by forest ecosystems (Pausas et al., 2008; Fernandes et al., 2014; Huerta et al., 2022a), resulting in an uncertain scenario of responses to future disturbances (Fernández-García et al., 2018a). Therefore, it is crucial to understand the ecological implication of fire regime shifts in this region to adequately develop fire management policies.



Figure 1. Annual Statistics of the European Forest Fire Information System (EFFIS) using mapped wildfires \geq 30 ha for (A) Spain, (B) Italy, and (C) Portugal over the period 2006-2022.

The ability of plant communities in Mediterranean Basin to cope with fire has been modulated by evolutionary pathways shaping fire-adaptive traits, such as resprouting from surviving tissues, fire resistant structures (e.g., thick bark), serotiny, or fire-stimulated germination. These traits had

been acquired due to ecological memory of past disturbances under natural fire regimes (Pausas, 2008), ensuring adequate post fire vegetation recovery rates. However, the current increase in extreme wildfires may hinder ecosystem resilience to fire through the impact of resprouting response (Moreira et al., 2012), or diminishing the recruitment of obligated seeders due to direct effects (biomass consumption) or indirect effects (nutrient loss and destruction of soil structure) (Vega et al., 2013; Pausas and Keeley, 2021). This is especially aggravated when increase the frequency of extreme wildfire events (Taboada et al., 2018; Fernández-García et al., 2020). For instance, there is evidence that regeneration of many obligated seeder species (e.g., Pinus species on the Iberian Peninsula) is strongly impaired by short fire intervals (Calvo et al., 2008; Fernández-Guisuraga et al., 2020). This may promote a high fuel build-up resprouting shrub species (Taboada et al., 2018), with substantial implications on the fire behavior of subsequent wildfires (Gould et al., 2011; Vasques et al., 2023), as well as a decline of fire-sensitive species' diversity (Fernández-García et al., 2020; Kelly et al., 2020). Furthermore, burn severity also strongly affects regeneration strategies and physiological traits in Mediterranean Basin ecosystems (Fernández-García et al., 2020), inducing short and long-term post-fire effects (Key and Benson, 2006; Harris and Taylor, 2017; Quintano et al., 2018) on vegetation and soils, such as plant mortality or soil erosion (Bassett et al., 2017; San-Miguel et al., 2017). Nonetheless, these effects often display a very high spatial variability (mixed-severity wildfires; Fig. 2) (Viedma et al., 2020) within the same wildfire event, strongly linked to environmental conditions (Whitlock et al., 2003; Pausas and Paula, 2012; Fernández-Guisuraga et al., 2020). In this context, developing spatial characterization techniques of fire regime attributes in different climatic contexts is essential to provide forest management advice targeted at improving ecosystem adaptive responses in the current situation of global change (De Santis and Chuvieco, 2007; Chuvieco et al., 2014; González-De Vega et al., 2016; Strand and Bunting, 2023).



Figure 2. Ecosystems of *Pinus sylvestris* L. (Scots pine) with *Cytisus oromediterraneus* Rivas (black broom) understory affected by a mixed severity fire in Navalacruz in 2021 (Ávila; Spain; western Mediterranean Basin)

Soil burn severity monitoring through passive remote sensing techniques

Burn severity provides crucial information on how the fire impacts in the ecosystems both immediately after the fire (initial short-term assessments, IA) (Zavala et al., 2014; Fernández-García et al., 2018b) and over long periods of time (extended long-term assessments, EA) (Key and Benson, 2006; González-De Vega et al., 2016; Fernández-Manso et al., 2020). In this sense, fire-induced ecological changes can be evaluated using two different approaches: field (Morgan et al., 2014; Fernández-García et al., 2018b) and remote sensing (Lentile et al., 2006; De Santis and Chuvieco, 2007; Fernández-Manso et al., 2016a) assessments. In the field data approach, visual indicators such as char height, ash color or depth, litter consumption, vegetation consumption, tree mortality, or remaining branch diameter are used (Key and Benson, 2006; Keeley, 2009). Traditionally, these indicators are combined in integrative field indices using a multi-strata approach, such as the Composite Burn Index (CBI; Key and Benson, 2005) or the Geometrically structured CBI (GeoCBI; De Santis and Chuvieco, 2009). These integrative indices use a semi-quantitative scale ranging from unburned to totally or severely burned to rate individual fire impacts on four vegetation strata (vegetation burn severity) and substrate (soil burn severity). These scores can be used jointly (site burn severity) to provide a comprehensive assessment of fire damage, or individually, in terms of the compartments considered critical for post-fire management (Keeley, 2009). Field methods are highly reliable for assessing fire impacts on vegetation and soils in burned landscapes (Gonzalez-De Vega et al., 2016; Holden et al., 2016) using visual estimations or instrumental techniques (Li et al., 2015; Fernández-García et al., 2018b). However, they require a considerable amount of time and are labor-intensive, particularly for large-scale applications (De Santis and Chuvieco et al., 2007; Veraverbeke et al., 2011). Despite the CBI has frequently been used in studies that only use fieldwork as data source (Amato et al., 2013), its initial purpose was to validate burn severity estimates derived from remotely sensed data (e.g., Quintano et al., 2018; Fernández-Guisuraga et al., 2023a).

Within this context, remote sensing methods have emerged as powerful tools for monitoring and quantifying fire-induced impacts across large burned areas for their cost-effectiveness, accurate links with ground measurements and synoptic nature (Veraverbeke et al., 2012; Yin et al., 2020). The most commonly-used approaches in the literature include (i) mono- and bi-temporal spectral indices computed from passive optical data (Mallinis et al., 2018; Fernández-García et al., 2018b), (ii) spectral unmixing analysis (SMA) to retrieve the fractional cover of post-fire constituents at sub-pixel level (Quintano et al., 2013; Fernández-Manso et al., 2016b), and (iii) radiative transfer models (RTMs) based on the simulation of the reflectance signal of fire impacts through the radiative transfer theory (Verrelst et al., 2019; Fernández-Guisuraga et al., 2023a). Traditionally, optical multispectral sensors aboard satellite platforms have been widely used to quantify changes in vegetation status in fire-affected areas (Garrigues et al., 2002; Veraverbeke et al., 2012), being also used in numerous studies to evaluate post-fire vegetation recovery (Fernández-Guisuraga et al., 2019) and identify areas susceptible to erosion (Jain et al., 2012). Nevertheless, the spatial and spectral resolution of these sensors often presents limitations in explaining the high spatial variability that characterizes heterogeneous burned areas in the context of large wildfire events

(Meng et al., 2018), particularly at the soil level (Kokaly et al., 2007). Sensors with low (e.g., MODIS) to moderate (e.g., Landsat and Sentinel-2) spatial resolution may fail to capture the finescale variation of vegetation horizontal structure in heterogeneous landscapes (Miller and Thode, 2007; Harris et al., 2011; Hosseini and Saradjian, 2011). This may limit the ability to accurately monitor wildfire impacts at fine scales (Viana-Soto et al., 2017). Also, optical multispectral sensors may not capture the full range of spectral information needed to discriminate between different burn severity levels (Chu et al., 2016; Roy et al., 2016). Overcoming these limitations requires advancements in sensor technology, such as the integration of higher spatial and spectral resolution data sources, including hyperspectral sensors or very high spatial resolution multispectral imagery (Lewis et al., 2008; Ge et al., 2019).

In this regard, unmanned aerial vehicles (UAVs), commonly known as drones, offer a potential solution to the limitations of optical imagery collected by earth observation satellites in assessing fire impacts on ecosystems. UAVs equipped with high-resolution cameras can capture imagery at a much finer spatial resolution (higher than 1 m) with lower economic costs compared to alternative remote sensing techniques for relatively small-scale area surveys (Aldana-Jague et al., 2016; Fernández-Guisuraga et al., 2018; Pla et al., 2019), allowing a better understanding of fine-scale variations in fire-induced ecological impacts within heterogeneous landscapes (Fernández-Guisuraga et al., 2018; Melville et al., 2019; Pla et al., 2019). Moreover, UAVs can be equipped with multiple sensors, including RGB, multispectral, hyperspectral, thermal infrared, and LiDAR, enabling researchers to study vegetation health, soil status, and other ecological features in-depth (Colomina and Molina, 2014). Despite the considerable potential of UAVs, there are still research challenges regarding the implementation of operative multispectral UAV products in fire assessments due to the common low spectral resolution of the most widely used commercial sensors in comparison with multispectral satellite imagery (Fernández-Guisuraga et al., 2018). Recent methodological advances, such as data fusion of high spectral and high spatial resolution satellite and UAV imagery, respectively, are promising in addressing these challenges (Näsi et al., 2015; Dash et al., 2018; Ge et al., 2019).

Indicators of fire-induced ecological change on forest soils

Severe wildfires may induce important direct (vegetation consumption) and indirect effects on the ecosystems (Gonzalez-De Vega et al., 2016; Fernández-García et al., 2019), such as poor plant regeneration, soil erosion, increased surface runoff, water pollution, or flooding (Pausas et al., 2008; Pereira et al., 2018). Of particular interest are fire-induced shifts in soil mineral and organic layers, including loss of organic matter and nutrients (DeBano et al., 1998; Lentile et al., 2006), as they can drastically alter multiple ecosystem functions and services (Huerta et al., 2022b). For instance, the soil organic matter consumption at extreme temperatures causes loss of soil structure (Mataix-Solera et al., 2011; Marcos et al., 2018; Fernández-García et al., 2019), decreasing the soil capacity to retain water and nutrients, and affecting vegetation recovery as well as ecosystem productivity (Johnstone and Chapin, 2006; Vega et al., 2010). In addition, soil exposure to high

temperatures generates impermeable layers on the soil surface, which increase runoff and erosion susceptibility (Zavala et al., 2014; Vieira et al., 2015).

Soil burn severity is influenced by multiple factors, including abiotic variables such as microtopography or soil moisture (Harris and Taylor, 2017), or the burned vegetation type (Fernández-García et al., 2019). In this way, it is very common to find a heterogeneous mosaic of soil burn severity levels within the wildfire (Neary et al., 2005; Sobrino et al., 2019) (Fig. 3). It has been reported that high soil burn severity may heavily impact soil properties in the upper 2-3 cm (Badía et al., 2017), such as aggregate stability, water repellency, pH electrical conductivity, microbial biomass carbon or enzymatic activities (Vega et al., 2013; Mataix-Solera et al., 2011; Muñoz-Rojas et al., 2016; Fernández- García et al., 2019). However, minimal, or even positive effects have also been described at low severity on some soil properties, such as a slight increase in the coarse fraction of soil aggregates due to an increase in soil organic carbon in incomplete combustion of vegetation biomass (Marcos et al., 2009). The development of scientific knowledge of these soil attributes based solely on field data has been useful to understand fireinduced impacts on the ecosystem functioning (Vega et al., 2013; Marcos et al., 2018; Fernández-García et al., 2019). Nevertheless, the implementation of new remote sensing techniques that procure fine-scale spatial information of fire impacts on forest soils is necessary to achieve enough accuracy in large-scale spatial assessments to be useful for post-fire management.



Figure 3. Spatial variation of soil burn severity in broadleaf (left) and coniferous forest (right). White and orange ash patches indicate highly affected areas.

Apart from soil properties, other metrics have been used to identify the magnitude of fire impacts at the soil level (Keeley et al., 2009, Maia et al., 2012). One of the most widespread and clearest methods is based on the observation of certain observable and measurable soil indicators, such as the presence and characteristics of char and ash (Lentile et al., 2006; Hudak et al., 2013), or soil structural alterations visually-assessed (Vega et al., 2013; Fernández and Vega, 2016). Soil burn severity visual indicators can be rated individually (Marcos et al., 2018; Miesel et al., 2018), due

to their easy measurement and applicability, or integrated in the CBI classification system (Key and Benson, 2005). While field-based indicators can be valuable tools for assessing fire impacts on soil at local scales, land managers need tools that allow wall-to-wall assessments of fire severity on soils at large spatial scales (Hudak et al., 2007). Despite this, little research has been carried out on the combination of field-based indicators to validate the information gathered by remote sensing data (Rodrigo-Comino et al., 2018; Sobrino et al., 2019).

Estimation of vegetation characteristics driving burn severity by remote sensing data

In the context of changing fire regimes, related to the occurrence of more extreme wildfire events, management strategies tailored to the conservation of forest ecosystems require a thorough understanding of the underlying factors driving burn severity (Moreira et al., 2011; García-Llamas et al., 2019a). During the last years, previous research has evaluated driving mechanisms of burn severity in the Mediterranean Basin, which are controlled by four main factors: topographic effects, weather conditions, fire history patterns, and vegetation characteristics (fuel amount, fuel type, fuel structure and fuel moisture) (Alexander et al., 2006; Collins et al., 2007; Oliveras et al., 2009; Steel et al., 2015; Viedma et al., 2015; Fernández-Guisuraga et al., 2021a). Due to the complex interactions among these variables (Lecina-Diaz et al., 2014; Parks et al., 2018), remote sensing methods are considered the most feasible alternative to model at large scale, and with high reliability, the relationships between environmental drivers and extreme fire behavior in heterogeneous ecosystems (Viedma et al., 2015; García-Llamas et al., 2019a). Among these four drivers, only vegetation characteristics are susceptible to being managed (Prichard et al., 2020), which is crucial to design planning strategies aimed to reduce the surface burned at high burn severity (Picotte et al., 2020; Viedma et al., 2020). In this sense, high fuel load and horizontal fuel continuity of flammable vegetation types may lead to the most severe ecological impacts (Coppoletta et al., 2016; Fernández-Guisuraga et al., 2021a). For example, Iberian Peninsula landscapes dominated by pine forests, such as Pinus pinaster Ait. and Pinus halepensis Mill., have been reported to be highly susceptible to severe fires due to the homogeneous vegetation and ladder fuels susceptible to crowning (Pausas et al., 2008; Viedma et al., 2015; Fernández-García et al., 2019). On the other hand, heterogeneous landscapes formed by mixed agricultural areas and native forests may preclude wildfire severity (Fernandes, 2013). Therefore, the finescale spatial characterization of these fuel driving factors, which may be controlled by fire history, is essential for defining forest management guidelines and policies to reduce wildfire hazard in fire-prone landscapes (Fernandes et al., 2016; García-Llamas et al., 2020).

Remote sensing data sources are less time-consuming for large-scale assessments necessary in the context of extreme wildfire events (Chen et al., 2017; Garcia-Llamas et al., 2019b; Fang et al., 2023). The quantification of pre-fire vegetation amount through satellite data has been traditionally accomplished by empirical approaches based on statistical relationship among field measurements at plot-level and spectral products such as vegetation indices (e.g., Normalized Difference Vegetation index -NDVI-, or Normalized Difference Water index, -NDWI-) (Parks et

al., 2018). However, the lack of physical meaning of spectral indices in heterogeneous burned landscapes (Fernández-Guisuraga et al., 2021b; 2023a) lead to a poor generalization ability among different vegetation types (Huang et al., 2021), which introduces uncertainties in the fuel amount estimation process. In this sense, other remote sensing methods such as RTMs have been used to overcome these limitations, obtaining a better fuel characterization (Yebra et al., 2013; Fernández-Guisuraga et al., 2021b). Physical methods applied to satellite imagery, such as RTMs, simulate the interaction of electromagnetic radiation with the Earth's surface and atmosphere, allowing more meaningful and generalizable measurements of certain biophysical variables, such as the fraction of vegetation cover (FCOVER), the leaf area index (LAI), the canopy water content (CWC), or the fraction of absorbed photosynthetically active radiation (FAPAR) (Garrigues et al., 2006; Jia et al., 2016; Fernández-Guisuraga et al., 2021b). Until a few years ago, there were not many examples of the use of RTMs in characterizing pre-fire vegetation structure. Recently, RTMs have been used to estimate forest resilience and vegetation recovery rates in heterogeneous landscapes affected by mixed-severity fires (Fernández-Guisuraga et al., 2021b; 2023a). Despite their generalization capability (Tao et al., 2019), and their non-dependence on field data (Campos-Taberner et al., 2018), RTM products have not been leveraged to directly retrieve biophysical variables related to pre-fire vegetation structure.

Challenges of the new generation wildfires: vulnerability of the wildland-urban interface to high burn severity

The increased risk of sixth-generation fires (i.e., large wildfires of extreme fire behavior) in southern Europe is involving areas of high socio-economic value (Molina-Terrén et al., 2019), such as wildland-urban interfaces (WUI), where humans, goods and ecosystem services are highly vulnerable (Modugno et al., 2016; Badia et al., 2019). WUI areas are geographical zones where human development, such as settlements and constructions, meets or intermix with wildland areas (Bento-Gonçalves and Vieira, 2020), creating a new landscape context formed by conjunction of housing and wildland fuels (Lampin-Maillet et al., 2009). In these areas, susceptibility to severe wildfires has increased due to the depopulation and agricultural land abandonment in rural areas (Alamá-Sabater et al., 2021), and to the urbanization and human pressure in forested areas (Calviño-Cancela et al., 2016; Badia et al., 2019). As a consequence, many buildings are adjacent to areas holding large amounts of fire-prone biomass, where anthropogenic ignitions are frequent (Pausas and Fernández-Muñoz, 2012; Calviño-Cancela et al., 2017), assuming an added concern in the development of policies for preparing, staying, defending or leaving actions under large wildfire events. Under this scenario, extensive WUI areas are expected to be burned at high burn severity because of the connection between large wildfire spread and extreme fire behavior (Tedim et al., 2018) (Fig. 4). Therefore, it is essential to establish a scientific basis for identifying vulnerable situations and planning the most appropriate strategies to reduce land susceptibility to severe fires in WUI areas (Caggiano et al., 2020).



Figure 4. Scattered WUI area affected by moderate-high burn severity in Sierra de la Culebra wildfire occurred in summer 2022.

The assessment of conducive factors to extreme fire behavior has historically been ignored in WUI scientific literature in favor of fire ignition probability (Calviño-Cancela et al., 2017; Molina-Terrén et al., 2019) and fire spread (Vacca et al., 2020; Hysa, 2021). In wildland areas, burn severity has been shown to be controlled by multiple variables (Harris and Taylor, 2017; Viedma et al., 2020), such as those related to fuel characteristics (García-Llamas et al., 2019b; Walker et al., 2020). However, the human interaction degree in the intermix of settlements with wildland areas, with a higher variety of land uses and an increase in the presence of anthropogenic elements (e.g., roads, gardens, or power lines) may produce variations in fire behavior (Nielsen-Pincus et al., 2015). For this reason, the inclusion of building patterns as a covariate in fire behavior modelling in WUI areas may contribute to a better understanding of the vulnerability of human assets (Moreira et al., 2011). Building patterns influence not only fire behavior by means of changes in fuel types and structural characteristics (Safford et al., 2009; Chas-Amil et al., 2013), but also firefighting procedures (Lampin-Maillet, et al., 2009). The terms "isolated WUI", "scattered WUI", "dense clustered WUI", and "very dense clustered WUI" have been used to describe different patterns of WUI development based on the arrangement and density of buildings (Lampim-Maillet et al., 2009) (Fig. 5), which have helped to identify wildfire risk (Lampin-Maillet, et al., 2011; D'Este et al., 2021) and to design mitigation strategies (Sturtevant et al., 2007; 2009). In this way, WUI mapping at different spatial scales (Tonini et al., 2017; Sarricolea et al., 2020), or fire occurrence (Modugno et al., 2016) and vulnerability (Badia et al., 2019) modelling in WUI areas have been traditionally accomplished by using building patterns and vegetation characteristics such as (i) forest density (Caballero et al., 2007; D'Este et al., 2021), (ii) vegetation fragmentation (Lampin-Maillet et al., 2010; Chas-Amil et al., 2013; Sirca et al., 2017), or (iii) land cover change (Lampin-Maillet et al., 2011; Calviño-Cancela et al., 2016). To date, however, no methodologies have been developed for creating complete WUI classification

systems that can be used across wide geographic areas to recognize the most vulnerable situations in terms of extreme fire behavior. In this sense, determining the relationship between burn severity, pre-fire fuel type and structure, and building spatial patterns may be essential not only for developing management strategies in WUI areas (Modugno et al., 2016), but also for promoting landscapes and socio-ecological contexts less susceptible and more resilient to high burn severity (Pastor et al., 2020).



Figure 5. Different WUI types according to building patterns (distance and density between settlements) over a 3D Google Earth map corresponding to Carballeda de Avia wildfire.

Research justification

Drastic changes in the frequency, severity and size of wildfires are expected to increase in the western Mediterranean Basin (González-De Vega et al., 2016) as a consequence of rural land abandonment and climate change (Pausas and Fernández Muñoz, 2012; San-Miguel-Ayanz et al., 2013; Turco et al., 2013, Moreira et al., 2020). Rural abandonment has led to an increase in the amount and continuity of flammable fuels, promoting dense and continuous shrublands and woodlands, and a decline in grasslands and cultivated areas (García-Llamas et al., 2019b). Climate change, mainly expressed as an intensification of prolonged droughts and high-temperature periods, favors fuel dryness and thus high fuel ignition scenarios and extreme fire behavior (Stephens et al., 2013). As a result of these shifting patterns, the risk of large and severe wildfires is rising, especially in areas of particular concern for human life and assets such as the wildland-urban interfaces (WUI) (Stephens et al., 2013.

The current Doctoral Thesis pretends to advance knowledge in the application of multi-scale, passive remote sensing data and techniques to analyze both burn severity variability and its drivers across large burned landscapes in the context of changing fire regimes under different climatic

conditions in the western Mediterranean Basin. In this regard, we sought to address the following questions:

- Articles I & II: (i) What are the most effective ecological indicators to determine at fine spatial scales the impact induced by wildfires on soils of forest ecosystems? (ii) Do multispectral sensors on board UAVs have enough potential to identify these variations?
- Article III: (iii) What are the most relevant pre-fire fuel characteristics controlling burn severity behavior over different climatic contexts? (iv) Are passive remote sensing techniques valuable in identifying the link between fire regime and pre-fire vegetation characteristics controlling extreme fire behavior? (v) What is the relationship between fire regime shifts and fire behavior in 6th generation wildfires?
- Article IV: (vi) How do pre-fire fuel characteristics influence fire behavior in highly vulnerable WUI areas? (vii) Can passive remote sensing techniques contribute to fine-scale characterization of WUI typologies prone to high burn severity?

Answers to these questions will allow the promotion of science-based pre-fire management strategies to reduce environmental and socio-economic impacts of large and severe wildfires in fire-prone forest ecosystems of the western Mediterranean Basin. Regarding the *Articles I & II*, we expect that imagery collected at very high spatial resolution from UAVs will allow for a better characterization of the short-term spatial variability in soil burn severity than satellite imagery. It has been shown that images acquired through on-board satellite sensors may be inappropriate for assessing fire impact on soils due to their coarse spatial resolution (e.g., Fernández-García et al., 2018b). Furthermore, the spectral resolution of commercial multispectral sensors aboard UAVs may not be sufficient to determine fire-sensitive soil biochemical properties (Žížala et al., 2019). Thus, the application of fusion techniques targeted at producing spatially and spectrally enhanced products on UAV and satellite images is expected to provide the best performance.

Regarding fire behavior (*Article III*), we hypothesize that passive remote sensing products with physical basis and low dependence on field data will procure reliable predictive models of burn severity as a function of pre-fire fuel characteristics and landscape configuration along the climatic gradient. However, changes in the dynamics of temporal (fire recurrence and time since last fire) and magnitude (burn severity) fire regime attributes may imply substantial variations in fire behavior due to pre-fire fuel characteristics (e.g., biomass accumulation) control (Pausas and Paula, 2012; Fernández-Guisuraga et al., 2020). In this sense, we anticipate that large fire-free periods and no repeated severe wildfires may promote a significant build-up of flammable fuel types and landscape homogenization, particularly in Mediterranean environments (Moreira et al., 2011), making the landscape more prone to high-severity feedbacks in subsequent wildfires (Fernandes et al., 2016). Nevertheless, we expected that this control would be dependent on the climatic context, as recurrence and fire severity effects are less persistent in humid climates (e.g., Atlantic sites) due to rapid post-fire regeneration (Meng et al., 2018; Fernández-García et al., 2020).

Nonetheless, these feedbacks would not be so clear in WUIs areas (*Article IV*) due to: (i) the coexistence of anthropic elements with different types of fuels, and (ii) differences in fuel accumulation rates and structure with respect to wildland areas (Nielsen-Pincus et al., 2015). As a result, fuel connectedness would determine the occurrence of high severity fires in WUI areas, similar to wildland areas (Collins et al., 2007). Finally, we also expect that burn severity would significantly decrease with building spatial clustering, since fire suppression efforts will become more intensive and fuel load will be lower (Lampin-Maillet et al., 2009; Pastor et al., 2020).

REFERENCES

- Alamá-Sabater, L., Budí, V., Roig-Tierno, N., García-Álvarez-Coque, J.M., 2021. Drivers of depopulation and spatial interdependence in a regional context. Cities 114, 103217. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CITIES.2021.103217</u>
- Aldana-Jague, E., Heckrath, G., Macdonald, A., van Wesemael, B., Van Oost, K., 2016. UAS-based soil carbon mapping using VIS-NIR (480-1000 nm) multi-spectral imaging: Potential and limitations. Geoderma 275, 55–66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoderma.2016.04.012
- Alexander, J.D., Seavy, N.E., Ralph, C.J., Hogoboom, B., 2006. Vegetation and topographical correlates of fire severity from two fires in the Klamath-Siskiyou region of Oregon and California. Int. J. Wildl. Fire 15 237-245 15, 237–245. <u>https://doi.org/10.1071/WF05053</u>
- Amato, V.J.W., Lightfoot, D., Stropki, C., Pease, M., 2013. Relationships between tree stand density and burn severity as measured by the Composite Burn Index following a ponderosa pine forest wildfire in the American Southwest. For. Ecol. Manage. 302, 71–84. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FORECO.2013.03.015
- Archibald, S., Lehmann, C.E.R., Belcher, C.M., Bond, W.J., Bradstock, R.A., Daniau, A.L., Dexter, K.G., Forrestel, E.J., Greve, M., He, T., Higgins, S.I., Hoffmann, W.A., Lamont, B.B., McGlinn, D.J., Moncrieff, G.R., Osborne, C.P., Pausas, J.G., Price, O., Ripley, B.S., Rogers, B.M., Schwilk, D.W., Simon, M.F., Turetsky, M.R., Van Der Werf, G.R., Zanne, A.E., 2018. Biological and geophysical feedbacks with fire in the Earth system. Environ. Res. Lett. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/aa9ead
- Badía, D., López-García, S., Martí, C., Ortíz-Perpiñá, O., Girona-García, A., Casanova-Gascón, J., 2017. Burn effects on soil properties associated to heat transfer under contrasting moisture content. Sci. Total Environ. 601–602, 1119–1128. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.05.254</u>
- Badia, A., Pallares-Barbera, M., Valldeperas, N., Gisbert, M., 2019. Wildfires in the wildland-urban interface in Catalonia: Vulnerability analysis based on land use and land cover change. Sci. Total Environ. 673, 184–196. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2019.04.012</u>
- Bassett, M., Leonard, S.W.J., Chia, E.K., Clarke, M.F., Bennett, A.F., 2017. Interacting effects of fire severity, time since fire and topography on vegetation structure after wildfire. For. Ecol. Manage. 396, 26–34. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FORECO.2017.04.006</u>
- Bento-Gonçalves, A., Vieira, A., 2020. Wildfires in the wildland-urban interface: Key concepts and evaluation methodologies. Sci. Total Environ. 707, 135592. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2019.135592</u>
- Bowman, D.M.J.S., Balch, J., Artaxo, P., Bond, W.J., Cochrane, M.A., D'Antonio, C.M., Defries, R., Johnston, F.H., Keeley, J.E., Krawchuk, M.A., Kull, C.A., Mack, M., Moritz, M.A., Pyne, S., Roos, C.I., Scott, A.C., Sodhi, N.S., Swetnam, T.W., 2011. The human dimension of fire regimes on Earth. J. Biogeogr. 38, 2223–2236. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1365-2699.2011.02595.X</u>
- Caballero, D., Beltrán, I., Velasco, A., 2007. Forest fires and wildland-urban interface in Spain: types and risk distribution. In: IV Conferencia Internacional sobre Incendios Forestales. May, Sevilla (pp. 13-17).
- Caggiano, M.D., Hawbaker, T.J., Gannon, B.M., Hoffman, C.M., 2020. Building Loss in WUI Disasters: Evaluating the Core Components of the Wildland–Urban Interface Definition. Fire 2020, Vol. 3, Page 73 3, 73. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/FIRE3040073</u>
- Calviño-Cancela, M., Chas-Amil, M.L., García-Martínez, E.D., Touza, J., 2016. Wildfire risk associated with different vegetation types within and outside wildland-urban interfaces. For. Ecol. Manage. 372, 1–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FORECO.2016.04.002</u>
- Calviño-Cancela, M., Chas-Amil, M.L., García-Martínez, E.D., Touza, J., 2017. Interacting effects of topography, vegetation, human activities and wildland-urban interfaces on wildfire ignition risk. For. Ecol. Manage. 397, 10–17. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FOREC0.2017.04.033</u>
- Calvo, L., Santalla, S., Valbuena, L., Marcos, E., Tárrega, R., Luis-Calabuig, E., 2008. Post-fire natural regeneration of a Pinus pinaster forest in NW Spain. Plant Ecol. 197, 81–90. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11258-007-9362-1
- Campos-Taberner, M., Moreno-Martínez, Á., García-Haro, F.J., Camps-Valls, G., Robinson, N.P., Kattge, J., Running, S.W., 2018. Global Estimation of Biophysical Variables from Google Earth Engine Platform. Remote Sens. 2018, Vol. 10, Page 1167 10, 1167. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/RS10081167</u>
- Chas-Amil, M.L., Touza, J., García-Martínez, E., 2013. Forest fires in the wildland–urban interface: A spatial analysis of forest fragmentation and human impacts. Appl. Geogr. 43, 127–137. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.APGEOG.2013.06.010</u>
- Chas-Amil, M.L., García-Martínez, E., Touza, J., 2020. Iberian Peninsula October 2017 wildfires: Burned area and population exposure in Galicia (NW of Spain). Int. J. Disaster Risk Reduct. 48, 101623. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IJDRR.2020.101623</u>
- Chen, S., McDermid, G.J., Castilla, G., Linke, J., 2017. Measuring Vegetation Height in Linear Disturbances in the Boreal Forest with UAV Photogrammetry. Remote Sens. 2017, Vol. 9, Page 1257 9, 1257. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/RS9121257</u>
- Chu, T., Guo, X., Takeda, K., 2016. Remote sensing approach to detect post-fire vegetation regrowth in Siberian boreal larch forest. Ecol. Indic. 62, 32–46. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ECOLIND.2015.11.026</u>
- Chuvieco, E., Riaño, D., Danson, F.M., Martin, P., 2006. Use of a radiative transfer model to simulate the postfire spectral response to burn severity. J. Geophys. Res. Biogeosciences 111. https://doi.org/10.1029/2005JG000143
- Chuvieco, E., Martínez, S., Román, M.V., Hantson, S., Pettinari, M.L., 2014. Integration of ecological and socio-economic factors to assess global vulnerability to wildfire. Glob. Ecol. Biogeogr. 23, 245–258. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/GEB.12095</u>
- Collins, B.M., Kelly, M., Van Wagtendonk, J.W., Stephens, S.L., 2007. Spatial patterns of large natural fires in Sierra Nevada wilderness areas. Landsc. Ecol. 22, 545–557. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/S10980-006-9047-5/FIGURES/6</u>
- Colomina, I., Molina, P., 2014. Unmanned aerial systems for photogrammetry and remote sensing: A review. ISPRS J. Photogramm. Remote Sens. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.isprsjprs.2014.02.013</u>
- Coppoletta, M., Merriam, K.E., Collins, B.M., 2016. Post-fire vegetation and fuel development influences fire severity patterns in reburns. Ecol. Appl. 26, 686–699. <u>https://doi.org/10.1890/15-0225</u>
- D'Este, M., Giannico, V., Lafortezza, R., Sanesi, G., Elia, M., 2021. The wildland-urban interface map of Italy: A nationwide dataset for wildfire risk management. Data Br. 38, 107427. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.DIB.2021.107427</u>
- Dash, J.P., Pearse, G.D., Watt, M.S., 2018. UAV multispectral imagery can complement satellite data for monitoring forest health. Remote Sens. 10, 1–22. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/rs10081216</u>

- De Santis, A., Chuvieco, E., 2007. Burn severity estimation from remotely sensed data: Performance of simulation versus empirical models. Remote Sens. Environ. 108, 422–435. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2006.11.022
- De Santis, A., Chuvieco, E., 2009. GeoCBI: A modified version of the Composite Burn Index for the initial assessment of the short-term burn severity from remotely sensed data. Remote Sens. Environ. 113, 554–562. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2008.10.011
- DeBano, L.F., Neary, D.G., Folliott, P.F., 1998. Fire: Its Effect on Soil and Other Ecosystem Resources. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd, New York, NY, USA.
- Dupuy, J. luc, Fargeon, H., Martin-StPaul, N., Pimont, F., Ruffault, J., Guijarro, M., Hernando, C., Madrigal, J., Fernandes, P., 2020. Climate change impact on future wildfire danger and activity in southern Europe: a review. Ann. For. Sci. 77. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s13595-020-00933-5</u>
- Fang, G., Xu, H., Yang, S.I., Lou, X., Fang, L., 2023. Synergistic use of Sentinel-1, Sentinel-2, and Landsat
 8 in predicting forest variables. Ecol. Indic. 151, 110296.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ECOLIND.2023.110296
- Fang, L., Yang, J., White, M., Liu, Z., 2018. Predicting Potential Fire Severity Using Vegetation, Topography and Surface Moisture Availability in a Eurasian Boreal Forest Landscape. For. 2018, Vol. 9, Page 130 9, 130. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/F9030130</u>
- Fernandes, P.M., 2013. Fire-smart management of forest landscapes in the Mediterranean basin under global change. Landsc. Urban Plan. 110, 175–182. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.LANDURBPLAN.2012.10.014
- Fernandes, P.M., Loureiro, C., Guiomar, N., Pezzatti, G.B., Manso, F.T., Lopes, L., 2014. The dynamics and drivers of fuel and fire in the Portuguese public forest. J. Environ. Manage. 146, 373–382. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JENVMAN.2014.07.049</u>
- Fernandes, P.M., Barros, A.M.G., Pinto, A., Santos, J.A., 2016. Characteristics and controls of extremely large wildfires in the western Mediterranean Basin. J. Geophys. Res. Biogeosciences 121, 2141–2157. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/2016JG003389</u>
- Fernández-García, V., Quintano, C., Taboada, A., Marcos, E., Calvo, L., Fernández-Manso, A., 2018a. Remote Sensing Applied to the Study of Fire Regime Attributes and Their Influence on Post-Fire Greenness Recovery in Pine Ecosystems. Remote Sens. 10, 733. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/rs10050733</u>
- Fernández-García, V., Santamarta, M., Fernández-Manso, A., Quintano, C., Marcos, E., Calvo, L., 2018b. Burn severity metrics in fire-prone pine ecosystems along a climatic gradient using Landsat imagery. Remote Sens. Environ. 206, 205–217. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2017.12.029</u>
- Fernández-García, V., Miesel, J., Baeza, M.J., Marcos, E., Calvo, L., 2019. Wildfire effects on soil properties in fire-prone pine ecosystems: Indicators of burn severity legacy over the medium term after fire. Appl. Soil Ecol. 135. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsoil.2018.12.002</u>
- Fernández-García, V., Marcos, E., Fulé, P.Z., Reyes, O., Santana, V.M., Calvo, L., 2020. Fire regimes shape diversity and traits of vegetation under different climatic conditions. Sci. Total Environ. 716, 137137. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2020.137137</u>
- Fernández-Guisuraga, J.M., Sanz-Ablanedo, E., Suárez-Seoane, S., Calvo, L., 2018. Using unmanned aerial vehicles in postfire vegetation survey campaigns through large and heterogeneous areas: Opportunities and challenges. Sensors (Switzerland) 18. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/s18020586</u>
- Fernández-Guisuraga, J.M., Calvo, L., Fernández-García, V., Marcos-Porras, E., Taboada, Á., Suárez-Seoane, S., 2019. Efficiency of remote sensing tools for post-fire management along a climatic gradient. For. Ecol. Manage. 433, 553–562. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FORECO.2018.11.045</u>
- Fernández-Guisuraga, J.M., Suárez-Seoane, S., Calvo, L., 2020. Transferability of vegetation recovery models based on remote sensing across different fire regimes. Appl. Veg. Sci. 23, 441–451. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/AVSC.12500</u>

- Fernández-Guisuraga, J.M., Suárez-Seoane, S., García-Llamas, P., Calvo, L., 2021a. Vegetation structure parameters determine high burn severity likelihood in different ecosystem types: A case study in a burned Mediterranean landscape. J. Environ. Manage. 288, 112462. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JENVMAN.2021.112462</u>
- Fernández-Guisuraga, J.M., Suárez-Seoane, S., Calvo, L., 2021b. Radiative transfer modeling to measure fire impact and forest engineering resilience at short-term. ISPRS J. Photogramm. Remote Sens. 176, 30–41. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ISPRSJPRS.2021.04.002</u>
- Fernández-Guisuraga, J.M., Calvo, L., Quintano, C., Fernández-Manso, A., Fernandes, P.M., 2023a. Fractional vegetation cover ratio estimated from radiative transfer modeling outperforms spectral indices to assess fire severity in several Mediterranean plant communities. Remote Sens. Environ. 290. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2023.113542</u>
- Fernández-Guisuraga, J.M., Fernandes, P.M., Tárrega, R., Beltrán-Marcos, D., Calvo, L., 2023b. Vegetation recovery drivers at short-term after fire are plant community-dependent in mediterranean burned landscapes. For. Ecol. Manage. 539, 121034. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FOREC0.2023.121034</u>
- Fernández-Manso, A., Fernández-Manso, O., Quintano, C., 2016. SENTINEL-2A red-edge spectral indices suitability for discriminating burn severity. Int. J. Appl. Earth Obs. Geoinf. 50, 170–175. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jag.2016.03.005</u>
- Fernandez-Manso, A., Quintano, C., Roberts, D.A., 2016. Burn severity influence on post-fire vegetation cover resilience from Landsat MESMA fraction images time series in Mediterranean forest ecosystems. Remote Sens. Environ. 184, 112–123. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2016.06.015</u>
- Fernández-Manso, A., Quintano, C., Roberts, D.A., 2020. Can Landsat-Derived Variables Related to Energy Balance Improve Understanding of Burn Severity From Current Operational Techniques? Remote Sens. 2020, Vol. 12, Page 890 12, 890. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/RS12050890</u>
- Fernández, C., Vega, J.A., 2016. Modelling the effect of soil burn severity on soil erosion at hillslope scale in the first year following wildfire in NW Spain. Earth Surf. Process. Landforms 41, 928–935. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/esp.3876</u>
- Franklin, S.E., Ahmed, O.S., 2017. Deciduous tree species classification using object-based analysis and machine learning with unmanned aerial vehicle multispectral data. 39, 5236–5245. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/01431161.2017.1363442</u>
- Garcia-Llamas, P., Suárez-Seoane, S., Taboada, A., Fernández-García, V., Fernández-Guisuraga, J.M., Fernández-Manso, A., Quintano, C., Marcos, E., Calvo, L., 2019a. Assessment of the influence of biophysical properties related to fuel conditions on fire severity using remote sensing techniques: A case study on a large fire in NW Spain. Int. J. Wildl. Fire 28, 512–520. https://doi.org/10.1071/WF18156
- García-Llamas, P., Suárez-Seoane, S., Taboada, A., Fernández-Manso, A., Quintano, C., Fernández-García, V., Fernández-Guisuraga, J.M., Marcos, E., Calvo, L., 2019b. Environmental drivers of fire severity in extreme fire events that affect Mediterranean pine forest ecosystems. For. Ecol. Manage. 433, 24–32. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FORECO.2018.10.051</u>
- García-Llamas, P., Suárez-Seoane, S., Fernández-Manso, A., Quintano, C., Calvo, L., 2020. Evaluation of fire severity in fire prone-ecosystems of Spain under two different environmental conditions. J. Environ. Manage. 271, 110706. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JENVMAN.2020.110706</u>
- Garrigues, S., Allard, D., Baret, F., Weiss, M., 2006. Quantifying spatial heterogeneity at the landscape scale using variogram models. Remote Sens. Environ. 103, 81–96. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.RSE.2006.03.013</u>
- Ge, X., Wang, J., Ding, J., Cao, X., Zhang, Z., Liu, J., Li, X., 2019. Combining UAV-based hyperspectral imagery and machine learning algorithms for soil moisture content monitoring. PeerJ 7, e6926. <u>https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.6926</u>

- Giannaros, T.M., Papavasileiou, G., Lagouvardos, K., Kotroni, V., Dafis, S., Karagiannidis, A., Dragozi, E., 2022. Meteorological Analysis of the 2021 Extreme Wildfires in Greece: Lessons Learned and Implications for Early Warning of the Potential for Pyroconvection. Atmosphere (Basel). 13, 475. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ATMOS13030475/S1</u>
- Gibson, R.K., Mitchell, A., Chang, H.-C., 2023. Image Texture Analysis Enhances Classification of Fire Extent and Severity Using Sentinel 1 and 2 Satellite Imagery. Remote Sens. 2023, Vol. 15, Page 3512 15, 3512. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/RS15143512</u>
- Gil-Tena, A., Aquilué, N., Duane, A., De Cáceres, M., Brotons, L., 2016. Mediterranean fire regime effects on pine-oak forest landscape mosaics under global change in NE Spain. Eur. J. For. Res. 135, 403–416. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/S10342-016-0943-1/FIGURES/8</u>
- Giovannini, G., Lucchesi, S., Giachetti, M., 1988. Effect of heating on some physical and chemical parameters related to soil aggregation and erodibility. Soil Sci. 146, 255–261. https://doi.org/10.1097/00010694-198810000-00006
- González-De Vega, S., De las Heras, J., Moya, D., 2016. Resilience of Mediterranean terrestrial ecosystems and fire severity in semiarid areas: Responses of Aleppo pine forests in the short, mid and long term. Sci. Total Environ. 573, 1171–1177. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2016.03.115</u>
- Gonzalez-Olabarria, J.R., Reynolds, K.M., Larrañaga, A., Garcia-Gonzalo, J., Busquets, E., Pique, M., 2019. Strategic and tactical planning to improve suppression efforts against large forest fires in the Catalonia region of Spain. For. Ecol. Manage. 432, 612–622. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FORECO.2018.09.039</u>
- Harris, L., Taylor, A.H., 2017. Previous burns and topography limit and reinforce fire severity in a large wildfire. Ecosphere 8, e02019. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ECS2.2019</u>
- Harris, S., Veraverbeke, S., Hook, S., 2011. Evaluating Spectral Indices for Assessing Fire Severity in Chaparral Ecosystems (Southern California) Using MODIS/ASTER (MASTER) Airborne Simulator Data. Remote Sens. 2011, Vol. 3, Pages 2403-2419 3, 2403–2419. https://doi.org/10.3390/RS3112403
- He, T., Lamont, B.B., Pausas, J.G., 2019. Fire as a key driver of Earth's biodiversity. Biol. Rev. 94, 1983– 2010. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/BRV.12544</u>
- Holden, S.R., Rogers, B.M., Treseder, K.K., Randerson, J.T., 2016. Fire severity influences the response of soil microbes to a boreal forest fire. Environ. Res. Lett. 11, 035004. <u>https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/11/3/035004</u>
- Hosseini, M., Saradjian, M.R., 2011. Multi-index-based soil moisture estimation using MODIS images. Int. J. Remote Sens. 32, 6799–6809. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/01431161.2010.523027</u>
- Huang, S., Tang, L., Hupy, J.P., Wang, Y., Shao, G., 2021. A commentary review on the use of normalized difference vegetation index (NDVI) in the era of popular remote sensing. J. For. Res. 32, 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1007/S11676-020-01155-1/FIGURES/2
- Hudak, A.T., Morgan, P., Bobbitt, M.J., Smith, A.M.S., Lewis, S.A., Lentile, L.B., Robichaud, P.R., Clark, J.T., McKinley, R.A., 2007. The Relationship of Multispectral Satellite Imagery to Immediate Fire Effects. Fire Ecol. 3, 64–90. <u>https://doi.org/10.4996/fireecology.0301064</u>
- Hudak, A.T., Ottmar, R.D., Vihnanek, R.E., Brewer, N.W., Smith, A.M.S., Morgan, P., 2013. The relationship of post-fire white ash cover to surface fuel consumption. Int. J. Wildl. Fire 22, 780–785. <u>https://doi.org/10.1071/WF12150</u>
- Huerta, S., Marcos, E., Fernández-García, V., Calvo, L., 2022a. Resilience of Mediterranean communities to fire depends on burn severity and type of ecosystem. Fire Ecol. 18, 1–15. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/S42408-022-00156-1/METRICS</u>
- Huerta, S., Marcos, E., Fernández-García, V., Calvo, L., 2022b. Short-term effects of burn severity on ecosystem multifunctionality in the northwest Iberian Peninsula. Sci. Total Environ. 844, 157193. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2022.157193</u>

- Hysa, A., 2021. Indexing the vegetated surfaces within WUI by their wildfire ignition and spreading capacity, a comparative case from developing metropolitan areas. Int. J. Disaster Risk Reduct. 63, 102434. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IJDRR.2021.102434</u>
- Jain, T.B., Pilliod, D.S., Graham, R.T., Lentile, L.B., Sandquist, J.E., 2012. Index for Characterizing Post-Fire Soil Environments in Temperate Coniferous Forests. Forests 3, 445–466. https://doi.org/10.3390/f3030445
- Jia, K., Liang, S., Gu, X., Baret, F., Wei, X., Wang, X., Yao, Y., Yang, L., Li, Y., 2016. Fractional vegetation cover estimation algorithm for Chinese GF-1 wide field view data. Remote Sens. Environ. 177, 184–191. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2016.02.019</u>
- Johnstone, J.F., Chapin, F.S., 2006. Effects of soil burn severity on post-fire tree recruitment in boreal forest. Ecosystems 9, 14–31. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/S10021-004-0042-X/FIGURES/10</u>
- Johnstone, J.F., Allen, C.D., Franklin, J.F., Frelich, L.E., Harvey, B.J., Higuera, P.E., Mack, M.C., Meentemeyer, R.K., Metz, M.R., Perry, G.L.W., Schoennagel, T., Turner, M.G., 2016. Changing disturbance regimes, ecological memory, and forest resilience. Front. Ecol. Environ. 14, 369–378. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/FEE.1311</u>
- Keeley, J.E., 2009. Fire intensity, fire severity and burn severity: a brief review and suggested usage. Int. J. Wildl. Fire 18, 116. <u>https://doi.org/10.1071/WF07049</u>
- Keeley, J.E., Bond, W.J., Bradstock, R.A., Pausas, J., Rundel, P.W., 2012. Fire in Mediterranean Ecosystems: Ecology, Evolution and Management; Cambridge University Press: Cambridge, UK
- Kelly, L.T., Giljohann, K.M., Duane, A., Aquilué, N., Archibald, S., Batllori, E., Bennett, A.F., Buckland, S.T., Canelles, Q., Clarke, M.F., Fortin, M.J., Hermoso, V., Herrando, S., Keane, R.E., Lake, F.K., McCarthy, M.A., Morán-Ordóñez, A., Parr, C.L., Pausas, J.G., Penman, T.D., Regos, A., Rumpff, L., Santos, J.L., Smith, A.L., Syphard, A.D., Tingley, M.W., Brotons, L., 2020. Fire and biodiversity in the Anthropocene.
 Science (80). 370.

https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIENCE.ABB0355/SUPPL_FILE/ABB0355-KELLY-SM.PDF

- Key, C.H., Benson, N., 2005. Landscape assessment: Ground measure of severity, the Composite Burn Index; and remote sensing of severity, the Normalized Burn Ratio. In: FIREMON: Fire Effects Monitoring and Inventory System (D.C. Lutes, R.E. Keane, J.F. Caratti, C.H. Key, N.C. Benson and L.J. Gangi, Eds.), USDA Forest Service, Rocky Mountain Research Station, Gen. Tech. Rep. RMRS-GTR-164, Ogden, UT, pp. CD:LA1–LA51.
- Key, C.H., Benson, N.C., 2006. Landscape Assessment (LA) sampling and analysis methods. USDA For. Serv. - Gen. Tech. Rep. RMRS-GTR.
- Kokaly, R.F., Rockwell, B.W., Haire, S.L., King, T.V.V., 2007. Characterization of post-fire surface cover, soils, and burn severity at the Cerro Grande Fire, New Mexico, using hyperspectral and multispectral remote sensing. Remote Sens. Environ. 106, 305–325. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2006.08.006</u>
- Lamont, B.B., He, T., Yan, Z., 2019. Evolutionary history of fire-stimulated resprouting, flowering, seed release and germination. Biol. Rev. 94, 903–928. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/BRV.12483</u>
- Lampin-Maillet, C., Jappiot, M., Long, M., Morge, D., Ferrier, J.P., 2009. Characterization and mapping of dwelling types for forest fire prevention. Comput. Environ. Urban Syst. 33, 224–232. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.COMPENVURBSYS.2008.07.003
- Lampin-Maillet, C., Jappiot, M., Long, M., Bouillon, C., Morge, D., Ferrier, J.P., 2010. Mapping wildlandurban interfaces at large scales integrating housing density and vegetation aggregation for fire prevention in the South of France. J. Environ. Manage. 91, 732–741. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JENVMAN.2009.10.001</u>
- Lampin-Maillet, C., Long-Fournel, M., Ganteaume, A., Jappiot, M., Ferrier, J.P., 2011. Land cover analysis in wildland–urban interfaces according to wildfire risk: A case study in the South of France. For. Ecol. Manage. 261, 2200–2213. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FORECO.2010.11.022</u>

- Lee, C., Schlemme, C., Murray, J., Unsworth, R., 2015. The cost of climate change: Ecosystem services and wildland fires. Ecol. Econ. 116, 261–269. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2015.04.020</u>
- Lentile, L.B., Holden, Z.A., Smith, A.M.S., Falkowski, M.J., Hudak, A.T., Morgan, P., Lewis, S.A., Gessler, P.E., Benson, N.C., 2006. Remote sensing techniques to assess active fire characteristics and post-fire effects. Int. J. Wildl. Fire. <u>https://doi.org/10.1071/WF05097</u>
- Lewis, S.A., Robichaud, P.R., Frazier, B.E., Wu, J.Q., Laes, D.Y.M., 2008. Using hyperspectral imagery to predict post-wildfire soil water repellency. Geomorphology 95, 192–205. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geomorph.2007.06.002
- Lewis, S.A., Hudak, A.T., Robichaud, P.R., Morgan, P., Satterberg, K.L., Strand, E.K., Smith, A.M.S., Zamudio, J.A., Lentile, L.B., 2017. Indicators of burn severity at extended temporal scales: A decade of ecosystem response in mixed-conifer forests of western Montana. Int. J. Wildl. Fire 26, 755–771. <u>https://doi.org/10.1071/WF17019</u>
- Lydersen, J.M., Collins, B.M., Brooks, M.L., Matchett, J.R., Shive, K.L., Povak, N.A., Kane, V.R., Smith, D.F., 2017. Evidence of fuels management and fire weather influencing fire severity in an extreme fire event. Ecol. Appl. 27, 2013–2030. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/EAP.1586</u>
- Maia, P., Pausas, J.G., Arcenegui, V., Guerrero, C., Pérez-Bejarano, A., Mataix-Solera, J., Varela, M.E.T., Fernandes, I., Pedrosa, E.T., Keizer, J.J., 2012. Wildfire effects on the soil seed bank of a maritime pine stand The importance of fire severity. Geoderma 191, 80–88. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.GEODERMA.2012.02.001
- Malandra, F., Vitali, A., Morresi, D., Garbarino, M., Foster, D.E., Stephens, S.L., Urbinati, C., 2022. Burn Severity Drivers in Italian Large Wildfires. Fire 5, 180. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/FIRE5060180/S1</u>
- Mallinis, G., Mitsopoulos, I., Chrysafi, I., 2018. Evaluating and comparing sentinel 2A and landsat-8 operational land imager (OLI) spectral indices for estimating fire severity in a mediterranean pine ecosystem of Greece. GIScience Remote Sens. 55, 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1080/15481603.2017.1354803
- Marcos, E., Fernández-García, V., Fernández-Manso, A., Quintano, C., Valbuena, L., Tárrega, R., Luis-Calabuig, E., Calvo, L., 2018. Evaluation of Composite Burn Index and Land Surface Temperature for assessing soil burn severity in mediterranean fire-prone pine ecosystems. Forests 9, 1–16. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/f9080494</u>
- Mataix-Solera, J., Cerdà, A., Arcenegui, V., Jordán, A., Zavala, L.M., 2011. Fire effects on soil aggregation: A review. Earth-Science Rev. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.earscirev.2011.08.002</u>
- Melville, B., Fisher, A., Lucieer, A., 2019. Ultra-high spatial resolution fractional vegetation cover from unmanned aerial multispectral imagery. Int. J. Appl. Earth Obs. Geoinf. 78, 14–24. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jag.2019.01.013</u>
- Meng, R., Wu, J., Zhao, F., Cook, B.D., Hanavan, R.P., Serbin, S.P., 2018. Measuring short-term post-fire forest recovery across a burn severity gradient in a mixed pine-oak forest using multi-sensor remote sensing techniques. Remote Sens. Environ. 210, 282–296. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2018.03.019</u>
- Miesel, J., Reiner, A., Ewell, C., Maestrini, B., Dickinson, M., 2018. Quantifying changes in total and pyrogenic carbon stocks across fire severity gradients using active wildfire incidents. Front. Earth Sci. 6, 1–21. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/feart.2018.00041</u>
- Migliavacca, M., Dosio, A., Camia, A., Hobourg, R., Houston-Durrant, T., Kaiser, J.W., Khabarov, N., Krasovskii, A.A., Marcolla, B., San Miguel-Ayanz, J., Ward, D.S., Cescatti, A., 2013. Modeling biomass burning and related carbon emissions during the 21st century in Europe. J. Geophys. Res. Biogeosciences 118, 1732–1747. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/2013JG002444</u>
- Miller, J.D., Thode, A.E., 2007. Quantifying burn severity in a heterogeneous landscape with a relative version of the delta Normalized Burn Ratio (dNBR). Remote Sens. Environ. 109, 66–80. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2006.12.006</u>

- Mitsopoulos, I., Chrysafi, I., Bountis, D., Mallinis, G., 2019. Assessment of factors driving high fire severity potential and classification in a Mediterranean pine ecosystem. J. Environ. Manage. 235, 266– 275. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JENVMAN.2019.01.056
- Modugno, S., Balzter, H., Cole, B., Borrelli, P., 2016. Mapping regional patterns of large forest fires in Wildland–Urban Interface areas in Europe. J. Environ. Manage. 172, 112–126. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JENVMAN.2016.02.013
- Molina-Terrén, D.M., Xanthopoulos, G., Diakakis, M., Ribeiro, L., Caballero, D., Delogu, G.M., Viegas, D.X., Silva, C.A., Cardil, A., Molina-Terrén, D.M., Xanthopoulos, G., Diakakis, M., Ribeiro, L., Caballero, D., Delogu, G.M., Viegas, D.X., Silva, C.A., Cardil, A., 2019. Analysis of forest fire fatalities in Southern Europe: Spain, Portugal, Greece and Sardinia (Italy). Int. J. Wildl. Fire 28, 85–98. https://doi.org/10.1071/WF18004
- Moreira, F., Viedma, O., Arianoutsou, M., Curt, T., Koutsias, N., Rigolot, E., Barbati, A., Corona, P., Vaz, P., Xanthopoulos, G., Mouillot, F., Bilgili, E., 2011. Landscape wildfire interactions in southern Europe: Implications for landscape management. J. Environ. Manage. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2011.06.028
- Moreira, B., Tormo, J., Pausas, J.G., 2012. To resprout or not to resprout: factors driving intraspecific variability in resprouting. Oikos 121, 1577–1584. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1600-0706.2011.20258.X</u>
- Moreira, F., Ascoli, D., Safford, H., Adams, M.A., Moreno, J.M., Pereira, J.M.C., Catry, F.X., Armesto, J., Bond, W., González, M.E., Curt, T., Koutsias, N., McCaw, L., Price, O., Pausas, J.G., Rigolot, E., Stephens, S., Tavsanoglu, C., Vallejo, V.R., Van Wilgen, B.W., Xanthopoulos, G., Fernandes, P.M., 2020. Wildfire management in Mediterranean-type regions: paradigm change needed. Environ. Res. Lett. 15, 011001. <u>https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/AB541E</u>
- Moreira, F., Leal, M., Bergonse, R., Canadas, M.J., Novais, A., Oliveira, S., Ribeiro, P.F., Zêzere, J.L., Santos, J.L., 2023. Recent Trends in Fire Regimes and Associated Territorial Features in a Fire-Prone Mediterranean Region. Fire 2023, Vol. 6, Page 60 6, 60. https://doi.org/10.3390/FIRE6020060
- Moreno, J.M., Viedma, O., Zavala, G., Luna, B., 2011. Landscape variables influencing forest fires in central Spain. Int. J. Wildl. Fire 20, 678–689. <u>https://doi.org/10.1071/WF10005</u>
- Moreno, J.M., Morales-Molino, C., Torres, I., Arianoutsou, M., 2021. Fire in Mediterranean Pine Forests: Past, Present and Future 421–456. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-63625-8_21</u>
- Morgan, P., Keane, R.E., Dillon, G.K., Jain, T.B., Hudak, A.T., Karau, E.C., Sikkink, P.G., Holden, Z.A., Strand, E.K., 2014. Challenges of assessing fire and burn severity using field measures, remote sensing and modelling. Int. J. Wildl. Fire 23, 1045–1060. <u>https://doi.org/10.1071/WF13058</u>
- Muñoz-Rojas, M., Erickson, T.E., Martini, D., Dixon, K.W., Merritt, D.J., 2016. Soil physicochemical and microbiological indicators of short, medium and long term post-fire recovery in semi-arid ecosystems. Ecol. Indic. 63, 14–22. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2015.11.038</u>
- Näsi, R., Honkavaara, E., Lyytikäinen-Saarenmaa, P., Blomqvist, M., Litkey, P., Hakala, T., Viljanen, N., Kantola, T., Tanhuanpää, T., Holopainen, M., 2015. Using UAV-Based Photogrammetry and Hyperspectral Imaging for Mapping Bark Beetle Damage at Tree-Level. Remote Sens. 7, 15467–15493. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs71115467
- Neary, D.G., Ryan, K.C., DeBano, L.F., 2005. Wildland fire in ecosystems: effects of fire on soils and water, Gen. Tech. Rep. RMRS-GTR-42-vol.4. Ogden, UT: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Rocky Mountain Research Station. 250 p. <u>https://doi.org/10.2737/RMRS-GTR-42-V4</u>
- Nielsen-Pincus, M., Ribe, R.G., Johnson, B.R., 2015. Spatially and socially segmenting private landowner motivations, properties, and management: A typology for the wildland urban interface. Landsc. Urban Plan. 137, 1–12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.LANDURBPLAN.2014.11.020</u>

- Oliveras, I., Gracia, M., Moré, G., Retana, J., Oliveras, I., Gracia, M., Moré, G., Retana, J., 2009. Factors influencing the pattern of fire severities in a large wildfire under extreme meteorological conditions in the Mediterranean basin. Int. J. Wildl. Fire 18, 755–764. <u>https://doi.org/10.1071/WF08070</u>
- Parks, S.A., Holsinger, L.M., Panunto, M.H., Jolly, W.M., Dobrowski, S.Z., Dillon, G.K., 2018. Highseverity fire: evaluating its key drivers and mapping its probability across western US forests. Environ. Res. Lett. 13, 044037. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/AAB791
- Pastor, E., Muñoz, J.A., Caballero, D., Àgueda, A., Dalmau, F., Planas, E., 2020. Wildland–Urban Interface Fires in Spain: Summary of the Policy Framework and Recommendations for Improvement. Fire Technol. 56, 1831–1851. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/S10694-019-00883-Z/FIGURES/4</u>
- Pausas, J.G., Vallejo, V.R., 1999. The role of fire in European Mediterranean ecosystems. Remote Sens. Large Wildfires 3–16. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-60164-4_2</u>
- Pausas, J.G., Llovet, J., Rodrigo, A., Vallejo, R., 2008. Are wildfires a disaster in the Mediterranean basin? A review. Int. J. Wildl. Fire. <u>https://doi.org/10.1071/WF07151</u>
- Pausas, J.G., Fernández-Muñoz, S., 2012. Fire regime changes in the Western Mediterranean Basin: From fuel-limited to drought-driven fire regime. Clim. Change 110, 215–226. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-011-0060-6</u>
- Pausas, J.G., Paula, S., 2012. Fuel shapes the fire-climate relationship: evidence from Mediterranean ecosystems. Glob. Ecol. Biogeogr. 21, 1074–1082. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1466-8238.2012.00769.X</u>
- Pausas, J.G., Keeley, J.E., 2021. Wildfires and global change. Front. Ecol. Environ. 19, 387–395. https://doi.org/10.1002/FEE.2359
- Pereira, P., Cerda, A., Martin, D., Úbeda, X., Depellegrin, D., Novara, A., Martínez-Murillo, J.F., Brevik, E.C., Menshov, O., Rodrigo Comino, J., Miesel, J., 2017. Short-term low-severity spring grassland fire impacts on soil extractable elements and soil ratios in Lithuania. Sci. Total Environ. 578, 469–475. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.10.210</u>
- Pereira, P., Francos, M., Brevik, E.C., Ubeda, X., Bogunovic, I., 2018. Post-fire soil management. Curr. Opin. Environ. Sci. Heal. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coesh.2018.04.002</u>
- Picotte, J.J., Bhattarai, K., Howard, D., Lecker, J., Epting, J., Quayle, B., Benson, N., Nelson, K., 2020. Changes to the Monitoring Trends in Burn Severity program mapping production procedures and data products. Fire Ecol. 16. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s42408-020-00076-y</u>
- Pla, M., Bota, G., Duane, A., Balagué, J., Curcó, A., Gutiérrez, R., Brotons, L., 2019. Calibrating Sentinel-2 Imagery with Multispectral UAV Derived Information to Quantify Damages in Mediterranean Rice Crops Caused by Western Swamphen (Porphyrio porphyrio). Drones 3, 45. https://doi.org/10.3390/drones3020045
- Prichard, S.J., Povak, N.A., Kennedy, M.C., Peterson, D.W., 2020. Fuel treatment effectiveness in the context of landform, vegetation, and large, wind-driven wildfires. Ecol. Appl. 30, e02104. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/EAP.2104</u>
- Quintano, C., Fernández-Manso, A., Roberts, D.A., 2013. Multiple Endmember Spectral Mixture Analysis (MESMA) to map burn severity levels from Landsat images in Mediterranean countries. Remote Sens. Environ. 136, 76–88. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2013.04.017
- Quintano, C., Fernández-Manso, A., Fernández-Manso, O., 2018. Combination of Landsat and Sentinel-2 MSI data for initial assessing of burn severity. Int. J. Appl. Earth Obs. Geoinf. 64, 221–225. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JAG.2017.09.014</u>
- Resco de Dios, V., 2020. Global Change, Pyrophysiology, and Wildfires 177–197. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-41192-3_10
- Rodrigo-Comino, J., Senciales, J.M., Cerdà, A., Brevik, E.C., 2018. The multidisciplinary origin of soil geography: A review. Earth-Science Rev. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.earscirev.2017.11.008</u>

- Rodrigues, M., Cunill Camprubí, À., Balaguer-Romano, R., Coco Megía, C.J., Castañares, F., Ruffault, J., Fernandes, P.M., Resco de Dios, V., 2023. Drivers and implications of the extreme 2022 wildfire season in Southwest Europe. Sci. Total Environ. 859, 160320. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2022.160320
- Roy, D.P., Kovalskyy, V., Zhang, H.K., Vermote, E.F., Yan, L., Kumar, S.S., Egorov, A., 2016. Characterization of Landsat-7 to Landsat-8 reflective wavelength and normalized difference vegetation index continuity. Remote Sens. Environ. 185, 57–70. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2015.12.024</u>
- Rundel, P.W., Arroyo, M.T.K., Cowling, R.M., Keeley, J.E., Lamont, B.B., Pausas, J.G., Vargas, P., 2018. Fire and plant diversification in mediterranean-climate regions. Front. Plant Sci. 9, 370584. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/FPLS.2018.00851/BIBTEX</u>
- Ruzgiene, B., Berteška, T., Gečyte, S., Jakubauskiene, E., Aksamitauskas, V.Č., 2015. The surface modelling based on UAV Photogrammetry and qualitative estimation. Meas. J. Int. Meas. Confed. 73, 619–627. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.measurement.2015.04.018</u>
- Safford, H.D., Schmidt, D.A., Carlson, C.H., 2009. Effects of fuel treatments on fire severity in an area of wildland–urban interface, Angora Fire, Lake Tahoe Basin, California. For. Ecol. Manage. 258, 773– 787. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FORECO.2009.05.024</u>
- San-Miguel-Ayanz, J., Moreno, J.M., Camia, A., 2013. Analysis of large fires in European Mediterranean landscapes: Lessons learned and perspectives. For. Ecol. Manage. 294, 11–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FORECO.2012.10.050
- San-Miguel, I., Andison, D.W., Coops, N.C., 2017. Characterizing historical fire patterns as a guide for harvesting planning using landscape metrics derived from long term satellite imagery. For. Ecol. Manage. 399, 155–165. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FORECO.2017.05.021</u>
- San-Miguel-Ayanz, J., Durrant, T., Boca, R., Maianti, P., Liberta', G., Artes, V.T., Jacome, F.O.D., Branco, A., de, R.D., Ferrari, D., Pfeiffer, H., Grecchi, R., Nuijten, D., Onida, M., Loffler, P., 2021. Forest fires in Europe, middle east and north Africa 2020. Publ. off. Eur. union 174. https://doi.org/10.2760/216446
- San-Miguel-Ayanz, J., Durrant, T., Boca, R., Maianti, P., LastNameLibertà, G., Oom, D., Branco, A., De Rigo, D., Ferrari, D., Roglia, E., Scionti, N., 2023. Advance Report on Forest Fires in Europe, Middle East and North Africa 2022. Publ. Off. Eur. Union, Luxemb. 1–54. <u>https://doi.org/10.2760/091540</u>
- Sarricolea, P., Serrano-Notivoli, R., Fuentealba, M., Hernández-Mora, M., de la Barrera, F., Smith, P., Meseguer-Ruiz, Ó., 2020. Recent wildfires in Central Chile: Detecting links between burned areas and population exposure in the wildland urban interface. Sci. Total Environ. 706, 135894. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2019.135894
- Sirca, C., Casula, F., Bouillon, C., García, B.F., Fernández Ramiro, M.M., Molina, B.V., Spano, D., 2017. A wildfire risk oriented GIS tool for mapping Rural-Urban Interfaces. Environ. Model. Softw. 94, 36– 47. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENVSOFT.2017.03.024
- Sobrino, J., Llorens, R., Fernández, C., Fernández-Alonso, J., Vega, J., 2019. Relationship between Soil Burn Severity in Forest Fires Measured In Situ and through Spectral Indices of Remote Detection. Forests 10, 457. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/f10050457</u>
- Solans Vila, J.P., Barbosa, P., 2010. Post-fire vegetation regrowth detection in the Deiva Marina region (Liguria-Italy) using Landsat TM and ETM+ data. Ecol. Modell. 221, 75–84. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ECOLMODEL.2009.03.011
- Steel, Z.L., Safford, H.D., Viers, J.H., 2015. The fire frequency-severity relationship and the legacy of fire suppression in California forests. Ecosphere 6, 1–23. <u>https://doi.org/10.1890/ES14-00224.1</u>
- Stephens, S.L., Agee, J.K., Fulé, P.Z., North, M.P., Romme, W.H., Swetnam, T.W., Turner, M.G., 2013. Managing forests and fire in changing climates. Science (80-.). 342, 41–42. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIENCE.1240294/ASSET/D9358917-28AC-4ED7-BF36-</u> 798C529C5BA4/ASSETS/GRAPHIC/342_41_F1.JPEG

- Strand, E.K., Bunting, S.C., 2023. Effects of Pre-Fire Vegetation on the Post-Fire Plant Community Response to Wildfire along a Successional Gradient in Western Juniper Woodlands. Fire 6, 141. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/FIRE6040141/S1</u>
- Sturtevant, B.R., Cleland, D.T., Sturtevant, B.R., Cleland, D.T., 2007. Human and biophysical factors influencing modern fire disturbance in northern Wisconsin. Int. J. Wildl. Fire 16, 398–413. https://doi.org/10.1071/WF06023
- Sturtevant, B.R., Miranda, B.R., Yang, J., He, H.S., Gustafson, E.J., Scheller, R.M., 2009. Studying fire mitigation strategies in multi-ownership landscapes: Balancing the management of fire-dependent ecosystems and fire risk. Ecosystems 12, 445–461. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/S10021-009-9234-8/TABLES/5</u>
- Taboada, A., Fernández-García, V., Marcos, E., Calvo, L., 2018. Interactions between large high-severity fires and salvage logging on a short return interval reduce the regrowth of fire-prone serotinous forests. For. Ecol. Manage. 414, 54–63. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2018.02.013</u>
- Tanase, M.A., De La Riva, J., Perez-Cabello, F., 2011. Estimating burn severity at the regional level using optically based indices Characterization of space-time patterns of fire regimes in mainland Spain: recent and future pyroregions View project. Artic. Can. J. For. Res. <u>https://doi.org/10.1139/x11-011</u>
- Tao, G., Jia, K., Zhao, X., Wei, X., Xie, X., Zhang, Xiwang, Wang, B., Yao, Y., Zhang, Xiaotong, 2019. Generating High Spatio-Temporal Resolution Fractional Vegetation Cover by Fusing GF-1 WFV and MODIS Data. Remote Sens. 2019, Vol. 11, Page 2324 11, 2324. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/RS11192324</u>
- Tedim, F., Leone, V., Amraoui, M., Bouillon, C., Coughlan, M.R., Delogu, G.M., Fernandes, P.M., Ferreira, C., McCaffrey, S., McGee, T.K., Parente, J., Paton, D., Pereira, M.G., Ribeiro, L.M., Viegas, D.X., Xanthopoulos, G., 2018. Defining Extreme Wildfire Events: Difficulties, Challenges, and Impacts. Fire 2018, Vol. 1, Page 9 1, 9. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/FIRE1010009</u>
- Tonini, M., Parente, J., Pereira, M. G., 2017. Global spatial assessment of WUI and related land cover in Portugal. In EGU General Assembly Conference Abstracts. Page-4956.
- Torresan, C., Berton, A., Carotenuto, F., Di Gennaro, S.F., Gioli, B., Matese, A., Miglietta, F., Vagnoli, C., Zaldei, A., Wallace, L., 2017. Forestry applications of UAVs in Europe: a review. Int. J. Remote Sens. 38, 2427–2447. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/01431161.2016.1252477</u>
- Turco, M., Llasat, M.C., von Hardenberg, J., Provenzale, A., 2013. Impact of climate variability on summer fires in a Mediterranean environment (northeastern Iberian Peninsula). Clim. Change 116, 665–678. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/S10584-012-0505-6/FIGURES/3</u>
- Vacca, P., Caballero, D., Pastor, E., Planas, E., 2020. WUI fire risk mitigation in Europe: A performancebased design approach at home-owner level. J. Saf. Sci. Resil. 1, 97–105. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JNLSSR.2020.08.001
- Vanesa Moreno, M., Chuvieco, E., Bergeron, Y., Gauthier, S., 2016. Fire Regime Characteristics along Environmental Gradients in Spain. For. 2016, Vol. 7, Page 262 7, 262. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/F7110262</u>
- Vasques, A., Baudena, M., Vallejo, V.R., Kéfi, S., Bautista, S., Santana, V.M., Baeza, M.J., Maia, P., Keizer, J.J., Rietkerk, M., 2023. Post-fire Regeneration Traits of Understorey Shrub Species Modulate Successional Responses to High Severity Fire in Mediterranean Pine Forests. Ecosystems 26, 146–160. https://doi.org/10.1007/S10021-022-00750-Z/FIGURES/5
- Vega, J.A., Fernández, C., Pérez-Gorostiaga, P., Fonturbel, T., 2010. Response of maritime pine (Pinus pinaster Ait.) recruitment to fire severity and post-fire management in a coastal burned area in Galicia (NW Spain). Plant Ecol. 206, 297–308. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/S11258-009-9643-Y/FIGURES/6</u>
- Vega, J.A., Fontúrbel, T., Merino, A., Fernández, C., Ferreiro, A., Jiménez, E., 2013. Testing the ability of visual indicators of soil burn severity to reflect changes in soil chemical and microbial properties in pine forests and shrubland. Plant Soil 369, 73–91. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-012-1532-9</u>

- Veraverbeke, S., Lhermitte, S., Verstraeten, W.W., Goossens, R., 2011. Evaluation of pre/post-fire differenced spectral indices for assessing burn severity in a mediterranean environment with landsat thematic mapper. Int. J. Remote Sens. 32, 3521–3537. https://doi.org/10.1080/01431161003752430
- Veraverbeke, S., Hook, S., Hulley, G., 2012. An alternative spectral index for rapid fire severity assessments. Remote Sens. Environ. 123, 72–80. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.RSE.2012.02.025</u>
- Verrelst, J., Vicent, J., Rivera-Caicedo, J.P., Lumbierres, M., Morcillo-Pallarés, P., Moreno, J., 2019. Global Sensitivity Analysis of Leaf-Canopy-Atmosphere RTMs: Implications for Biophysical Variables Retrieval from Top-of-Atmosphere Radiance Data. Remote Sens. 2019, Vol. 11, Page 1923 11, 1923. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/RS11161923</u>
- Viana-Soto, A., Aguado, I., Martínez, S., 2017. Assessment of Post-Fire Vegetation Recovery Using Fire Severity and Geographical Data in the Mediterranean Region (Spain). Environ. 2017, Vol. 4, Page 90 4, 90. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ENVIRONMENTS4040090</u>
- Viedma, O., Quesada, J., Torres, I., De Santis, A., Moreno, J.M., 2015. Fire Severity in a Large Fire in a Pinus pinaster Forest is Highly Predictable from Burning Conditions, Stand Structure, and Topography. Ecosystems 18, 237–250. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/S10021-014-9824-Y/FIGURES/3</u>
- Viedma, O., Chico, F., Fernández, J.J., Madrigal, C., Safford, H.D., Moreno, J.M., 2020. Disentangling the role of prefire vegetation vs. burning conditions on fire severity in a large forest fire in SE Spain. Remote Sens. Environ. 247, 111891. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.RSE.2020.111891</u>
- Vieira, D.C.S., Fernández, C., Vega, J.A., Keizer, J.J., 2015. Does soil burn severity affect the post-fire runoff and interrill erosion response? A review based on meta-analysis of field rainfall simulation data. J. Hydrol. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhydrol.2015.01.071
- Walker, X.J., Rogers, B.M., Veraverbeke, S., Johnstone, J.F., Baltzer, J.L., Barrett, K., Bourgeau-Chavez, L., Day, N.J., de Groot, W.J., Dieleman, C.M., Goetz, S., Hoy, E., Jenkins, L.K., Kane, E.S., Parisien, M.A., Potter, S., Schuur, E.A.G., Turetsky, M., Whitman, E., Mack, M.C., 2020. Fuel availability not fire weather controls boreal wildfire severity and carbon emissions. Nat. Clim. Chang. 2020 1012 10, 1130–1136. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41558-020-00920-8
- Whitlock, C., Shafer, S.L., Marlon, J., 2003. The role of climate and vegetation change in shaping past and future fire regimes in the northwestern US and the implications for ecosystem management. For. Ecol. Manage. 178, 5–21. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-1127(03)00051-3</u>
- Wood, E.M., Pidgeon, A.M., Radeloff, V.C., Keuler, N.S., 2012. Image texture as a remotely sensed measure of vegetation structure. Remote Sens. Environ. 121, 516–526. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.RSE.2012.01.003</u>
- Wu, Z., Middleton, B., Hetzler, R., Vogel, J., Dye, D., 2015. Vegetation burn severity mapping using landsat-8 and worldview-2. Photogramm. Eng. Remote Sensing 81, 143–154. <u>https://doi.org/10.14358/PERS.81.2.143</u>
- Yebra, M., Dennison, P.E., Chuvieco, E., Riaño, D., Zylstra, P., Hunt, E.R., Danson, F.M., Qi, Y., Jurdao, S., 2013. A global review of remote sensing of live fuel moisture content for fire danger assessment: Moving towards operational products. Remote Sens. Environ. 136, 455–468. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.RSE.2013.05.029</u>
- Yin, C., He, B., Yebra, M., Quan, X., Edwards, A.C., Liu, X., Liao, Z., 2020. Improving burn severity retrieval by integrating tree canopy cover into radiative transfer model simulation. Remote Sens. Environ. 236, 111454. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.RSE.2019.111454</u>
- Zavala, L.M., De Celis, R., Jordán, A., 2014. How wildfires affect soil properties. A brief review. Cuad. Investig. Geográfica 40, 311. <u>https://doi.org/10.18172/cig.2522</u>
- Zhen, Z., Chen, S., Yin, T., Chavanon, E., Lauret, N., Guilleux, J., Henke, M., Qin, W., Cao, L., Li, J., Lu, P., Gastellu-etchegorry, J.P., 2021. Using the Negative Soil Adjustment Factor of Soil Adjusted

Vegetation Index (SAVI) to Resist Saturation Effects and Estimate Leaf Area Index (LAI) in Dense Vegetation Areas. Sensors 2021, Vol. 21, Page 2115 21, 2115. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/S21062115</u>

Žížala, D., Minarík, R., Zádorová, T., 2019. Soil organic carbon mapping using multispectral remote sensing data: Prediction ability of data with different spatial and spectral resolutions. Remote Sens. 11, 1–23. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/rs11242947</u>

OBJECTIVES

Objectives

The main objective of this PhD Thesis is to develop new multiscale remote sensing tools to characterize spatially the ecological impacts of extreme wildfires on soils, and identify the most relevant pre-fire fuel drivers, as modulated by fire regime, across a climatic gradient in the Iberian Peninsula. We focus especially on wildland-urban-interface (WUI) areas because of their high socioeconomic vulnerability to extreme wildfire events and, we provide scientific-technical basis for decision-making related pre-fire adaptive management.

In particular, the specific objectives are:

- **Specific objective 1.** To identify soil burn severity indicators through spectral products derived from very high spatial resolution multispectral imagery acquired with unmanned aerial vehicle (UAVs). Concretely, we aim:
 - To determine the potential of UAV-derived spectral products to support field assessments of soil burn severity (*Article I*).
 - To explore the ability of UAV and satellite multispectral data fusion to predict biophysical properties sensitive to soil burn severity (*Article II*).
- Specific objective 2. To analyze the link between spatio-temporal variation patterns of fire regime attributes and pre-fire vegetation characteristics, and their joint role in controlling extreme wildfire behavior in landscapes prone to severe wildfires along an Atlantic-Mediterranean climatic gradient using physical-based remote sensing techniques (*Article III*). Concretely, we aim:
 - To examine the dynamics of fire regime attributes under different environmental conditions over a 35-year period.
 - To determine which pre-fire vegetation characteristics are the most relevant in controlling fire behavior of subsequent wildfires.
 - To explore how fire regime attributes shapes landscapes prone to high severity wildfires under different climatic contexts.
- Specific objective 3. To propose an integrated and generalizable wildland-urban interface (WUI) classification for identifying WUI typologies prone to high burn severity based on building spatial configuration and fuel characteristics (*Article IV*). Concretely, we aim:
 - To identify manageable fuel proxies related to extreme burn severity behavior in WUI areas.
 - To classify and characterize WUI typologies prone to extreme fire behavior as a function of pre-fire vegetation drivers and the building density patterns.
- Specific objective 4. To generate scientific-based knowledge for pre-fire management in fireprone ecosystems of the western Mediterranean Basin to reduce high burn severity likelihood of future wildfires in the context of global change, with particular focus on WUI areas (*General Discussion*).

Objectives

CONCEPTUAL THESIS DIAGRAM

Conceptual Thesis diagram



Figure 6. PhD Thesis outline.

Conceptual Thesis diagram

Study sites

STUDY SITES

Study sites

All wildfire selected as case studies in this PhD Thesis encompass different burn severity scenarios, as well as different topographic, climatic and fuel conditions in the western Mediterranean Basin. The selected 18 wildfires burned 113,989 ha between 2016 and 2022 (Fig. 7). Except for wildfire n° 11 used for Articles I & II, all the wildfires in the Spanish Iberian Peninsula are located along an Atlantic-Transition-Mediterranean climatic gradient and are mainly characterized by: (i) the inclusion of a significant number of urban settlements within their fire perimeter, and (ii) their extensive size and extreme fire behavior, some of them being catalogued as the largest wildfires in the country's history.



Wildfire locations4. Cualedro8. O Barco de Valdeorras 12. Culebra16. Malpartida de Plasencia1. Ponte Caldelas5. Medeiros9. Fabero13. Aliste17. Cabezuela del Valle2. Carballeda de Avia 6. Monterrey10. Cabrera14. Pino de Oro18. Navalacruz3. Arbo7. Vilardevós11. Villapadierna15. Ladrillar

Figure 7. Geographical location of the wildfires included in this PhD Thesis.

In Articles I & II of the PhD Thesis, the wildfire selected occurred in Villapadierna (Cantabrian Mountain range, León province, NW Spain) on 22 August 2019, and affected 82.47 ha of a complex landscape mosaic. For these studies, a mixed-severity fire was required, where specific field assessments and UAV surveys could be conducted in a small burned area. The dominant burned vegetation types were: (i) extensive mature forest stands of *Quercus pyrenaica* Willd. (35.47 ha) with a dense shrubby understory dominated by heaths, namely Erica australis L. and Erica arborea L., and Halimium alyssoides Lam.; (ii) young forest plantations of Pinus sylvestris L. (21.47 ha) and mature forest plantations Pinus pinaster (14.45 ha). The fire was mostly a standreplacing event with a high degree of vegetation consumption, high tree mortality, and residual presence of scorched canopies and living trees. The area affected by the fire has a smooth relief, with elevation ranging between 922-1027 m a.s.l. (ASL), and slopes between 6-27%. Soils are classified as Dystric, Gleyic and Humic Cambisols (ITACYL, 2020), according to the World Reference Base for Soil Resources (WRB) system (Jones et al. 2005). The lithology is dominated by silts, sands, and clays, with conglomerate layers in the lowest areas (IGME, 2020). Climate is Mediterranean with an annual average precipitation of 761 mm, a mean annual temperature of 10.7 °C and 2-3 months of summer drought (Ninyerola et al., 2005).



Figure 8. Wildfires of (A) Ponte Caldelas, (B) Cabrera, and (C) Sierra de la Culebra occurred in summer 2017 (A and B) and 2022 (C) in a peninsular climatic gradient.

In the *Article III*, we selected eight large wildfires along an Atlantic-Transition-Mediterranean climatic gradient occurred between 2017 and 2022 (Fig. 8). In northwestern Spain, we targeted two extreme wildfire events occurred in 2017 in Ponte Caldelas (burned area of 9,440 ha; Pontevedra province, NW Spain) and Carballeda de Avia (burned area of 5,956 ha; Pontevedra province, NW Spain). The rugged topography was covered by plantations of *Pinus pinaster*, *Pinus radiata* D. Don. and *Eucalyptus globulus* Labill., as well as a landscape mosaic made of broadleaf forest mixed with heathlands (*Erica umbellata* Loefl. ex L.), broom (*Cytisus scoparius* L.) and gorse (*Ulex europaeus* L.) shrublands. Moreover, grasslands and cultivated areas near urban settlements were affected. These locations have a typical Atlantic/Oceanic climate with minimal summer drought, 925-1763 mm of annual precipitation on average, and a mean annual temperature of 11-13 °C (Ninyerola et al., 2005). These wildfires were also used in the *Article IV* of the PhD Thesis. As representative sites of transition climatic conditions, we selected two large fires that occurred between 2017 and 2022. The first one was the wildfire of Sierra de Cabrera

Study sites

(León province, NW Spain) that burned 9,940 ha between 21st and 27th August 2017. The area was mainly covered by (i) shrublands dominated by Erica australis, Genista hystrix Lange., and Genista florida L., (ii) tree stands dominated by Quercus pyrenaica and Pinus sylvestris and, (iii) grasslands on valley bottoms. This wildfire was also selected for the Article IV of the PhD Thesis. The second one was the wildfire of O Barco de Valdeorras (Ourense province, NW Spain), which burned in 2022 about 12,591 ha dominated by sclerophyllous forests (Castanea sativa Mill., Quercus pyrenaica and Quercus ilex L.), coniferous forests (Pinus pinaster, Pinus radiata and Pinus sylvestris) and shrublands mixed with agricultural lands and grasslands. In both sites, the lithology is siliceous (IGME, 2019). Dominant soils are acidic (ITACYL, 2019), predominantly classified as Cambisols and Leptosols (Jones et al., 2005). The relief in both sites is abrupt, with prominent crests mixed agricultural valleys. These areas are characterized by mean annual precipitation between 600-1500 mm, mean annual temperature between 5-15 °C, and by a summer drought of 2 months, an intermediate period between the Atlantic and Mediterranean climate conditions (Ninverola et al., 2005). The Mediterranean climatic site encompasses four large fires. The Cabezuela del Valle wildfire (Cáceres province, CW Spain) burned 3,949 ha in August 2020, dominated by broadleaved forests (Quercus pyrenaica, and Castanea sativa), shrublands (e.g., Cytisus multiflorus (L'Hér.) Sweet., Cistus ladanifer L., and Erica spp.), and grasslands. The Navalacruz wildfire (Ávila province, C Spain), located in the center of Iberian Peninsula, occurred in summer 2021 and burned 22,444 ha of Pinus sylvestris and Quercus ilex forests, as well as Mediterranean shrublands and grasslands. These wildfires were also used in the Article IV of the PhD Thesis. In 2022, the wildfires of Ladrillar in the region of Las Hurdes (Cáceres province, CW Spain) and the Sierra de la Culebra (Zamora province, NW Spain) burned 11,927 ha and 25,228 ha, respectively. Both sites are dominated by heathlands (Erica arborea and Erica australis), and broom (Genista florida) shrublands, as well as by Quercus pyrenaica, Quercus ilex, Pinus pinaster and Pinus sylvestris forest stands. These study sites show rugged topography, with steep slopes and wide valleys, and have climatic conditions typical of Mediterranean environments, with four months of warm dry summers (Ninyerola et al., 2005).

In the *Article IV* of this PhD Thesis, we focus on 14 large wildfires occurred between 2016 and 2021 in the Spanish Iberian Peninsula, mainly characterized by their high proximity to urban settlements. Some of them were already described (Ponte Caldelas, Carballeda de Avia, Sierra de Cabrera, Cabezuela del Valle y Navalacruz) and we will focus here on the new wildfires. In northwestern Spain, under Atlantic environmental conditions, we selected the following wildfires: (i) Arbo (Pontevedra, NW Spain), which burned 2,157 ha in 2016, affecting heathlands and conifer and eucalyptus planatations; (ii) Vilardevós (Ourense, NW Spain) affected 1,292 ha in August 2017, mainly occupied by pine and mixed forests, as well as heathlands and transitional woodlands; (iii) Monterrey (740 ha; Ourense, NW Spain), (iv) Medeiros (1,517 ha; Ourense, NW Spain), and (v) Cualedro (1,353 ha; Ourense, NW Spain) wildfires burned in summer and autumn seasons of 2020 landscape mosaics of heathlands, grasslands, and cultivated areas, seriously affecting WUI areas, resulting in the evacuation of a significant number of municipalities. Under transitional environmental conditions, we focus on the following wildfires: (i) Fabero burned 2,608 ha in 2016 close to populated areas, mostly conifer and deciduous forests, as well as

shrublands and crops. Furthermore, in 2017 and 2020, (ii) Pino de Oro and (iii) Aliste (Zamora province, NW Spain) burned 2,858 ha and 1,795 ha of sclerophyllous forests and shrublands mixed with agricultural lands and grasslands, respectively. In the central region of Spain with typical Mediterranean climatic conditions, we selected the wildfire of Malpartida de Plasencia (Cáceres province, CW Spain), which burned in August 2020 about 470 ha of sclerophyllous forests dominated by *Quercus* spp. and woodland-shrubland transition mixed with grasslands.

REFERENCES

- Agencia Estatal de Meteorología, 2017. AEMET Open Data. Available online: http://www.aemet.es/es/datos abiertos/AEMET OpenData
- Consellería de Agricultura, Medio Ambiente, Cambio Climatico y Desarrollo Rural, 2017. Informe Postincendio Gatova 28/06/2017: Núm:023/2017. Generalitat Valenciana, Servicio de prevención de incendios forestales, Valencia.
- Instituto Geológico y Minero de España (IGME). GEODE., 2019. Mapa Geológico Digital Continuo de España. Scale 1:50000. Sheets 230 and 231; Ministerio de Industria y Energía: Madrid, Spain, 1982. Available online:

http://mapas.igme.es/gis/rest/services/Cartografia_Geologica/IGME_Geode_50/MapServer

Instituto Geológico y Minero de España (IGME). GEODE., 2020. Mapa Geológico Digital Continuo de España. Scale 1:50000. Sheets 230 and 231; Ministerio de Industria y Energía: Madrid, Spain, 1982. Available online:

http://mapas.igme.es/gis/rest/services/Cartografia Geologica/IGME Geode 50/MapServer

- ITACYL., 2019. Instituto Tecnológico y Agrario de Castilla y León (ITACYL). Portal de suelos. Visor de Datos de Suelos. Available online: <u>http://suelos.itacyl.es/visor_datos</u>
- ITACYL., 2020. Instituto Tecnológico y Agrario de Castilla y León (ITACYL). Portal de suelos. Visor de Datos de Suelos. Available online: <u>http://suelos.itacyl.es/visor_datos</u>
- Jones, A., Montanarella, L., Jones, R., 2005. In: Soil Atlas of Europe. European Commission, Luxembourg, pp. 64–65.
- Ninyerola, M., Pons, X., Roure, J.M., 2005. Atlas climático digital de la Península Ibérica: Metodología y aplicaciones en bioclimatología y geobotánica. Universidad Autónoma de Barcelona.

Study sites

Results

RESULTS

Results





Mapping Soil Burn Severity at Very High Spatial Resolution from Unmanned Aerial Vehicles

Article I

Mapping Soil Burn Severity at Very High Spatial Resolution from

Unmanned Aerial Vehicles

David Beltrán-Marcos, Susana Suárez-Seoane, José Manuel Fernández-Guisuraga, Víctor Fernández-García, Rayo Pinto, Paula García-Llamas, Leonor Calvo

> Article published in Forests 2021, 12(2), 179 Journal Impact Factor: **3.282** Journal ranking: 12 of 90 (**Q1**) in Forestry Rank by Journal Citation Indicator (JCI) <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/f12020179</u>

ABSTRACT

The evaluation of the effect of burn severity on forest soils is essential to determine the impact of wildfires on a range of key ecological processes, such as nutrient cycling and vegetation recovery. The main objective of this study was to assess the potentiality of different spectral products derived from RGB and multispectral imagery collected by unmanned aerial vehicles (UAVs) at very high spatial resolution for discriminating spatial variations in soil burn severity after a heterogeneous wildfire. In the case study, we chose a mixed-severity fire that occurred in the northwest (NW) of the Iberian Peninsula (Spain) in 2019 that affected 82.74 ha covered by three different types of forests, each dominated by Pinus pinaster, Pinus sylvestris, and Quercus pyrenaica. We evaluated soil burn severity in the field 1 month after the fire using the Composite Burn Soil Index (CBSI), as well as a pool of five individual indicators (ash depth, ash cover, fine debris cover, coarse debris cover, and unstructured soil depth) of easy interpretation. Simultaneously, we operated an unmanned aerial vehicle to obtain RGB and multispectral postfire images, allowing for deriving six spectral indices. Then, we explored the relationship between spectral indices and field soil burn severity metrics by means of univariate proportional odds regression models. These models were used to predict CBSI categories, and classifications were validated through confusion matrices. Results indicated that multispectral indices outperformed RGB indices when assessing soil burn severity, being more strongly related to CBSI than to individual indicators. The Normalized Difference Water Index (NDWI) was the best-performing spectral index for modelling CBSI ($R^2cv = 0.69$), showing the best ability to predict CBSI categories (overall accuracy = 0.83). Among the individual indicators of soil burn severity, ash depth was the one that achieved the best results, specifically when it was modelled from NDWI $(R^2cv = 0.53)$. This work provides a useful background to design quick and accurate assessments of soil burn severity to be implemented immediately after the fire, which is a key factor to identify priority areas for emergency actions after forest fires.

Keywords: ash depth; Composite Burn Index; multispectral indices; Normalized Difference Water Index; Parrot SEQUOIA; soil visual indicators; wildfire

Results





Relevance of UAV and Sentinel-2 data fusion for estimating topsoil organic carbon after forest fire

Article II

Relevance of UAV and sentinel-2 data fusion for estimating topsoil

organic carbon after forest fire

David Beltrán-Marcos, Susana Suárez-Seoane, José Manuel Fernández-Guisuraga, Víctor Fernández-García, Elena Marcos, Leonor Calvo

> Article published in **Geoderma** 2023, 430, 116290 Journal Impact Factor: **6.100** Journal ranking: 4 of 45 (**D1**) in **Soil Science** Rank by Journal Citation Indicator (JCI) <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoderma.2022.116290</u>

ABSTRACT

The evaluation at detailed spatial scale of soil status after severe fires may provide useful information on the recovery of burned forest ecosystems. Here, we aimed to assess the potential of combining multispectral imagery at different spectral and spatial resolutions to estimate soil indicators of burn severity. The study was conducted in a burned area located at the northwest of the Iberian Peninsula (Spain). One month after fire, we measured soil burn severity in the field using an adapted protocol of the Composite Burn Index (CBI). Then, we performed soil sampling to analyze three soil properties potentially indicatives of fire-induced changes: mean weight diameter (MWD), soil moisture content (SMC) and soil organic carbon (SOC). Additionally, we collected post-fire imagery from the Sentinel-2A MSI satellite sensor (10 - 20 m of spatial resolution), as well as from a Parrot Sequoia camera on board an unmanned aerial vehicle (UAV; 0.50 m of spatial resolution). A Gram-Schmidt (GS) image sharpening technique was used to increase the spatial resolution of Sentinel-2 bands and to fuse these data with UAV information. The performance of soil parameters as indicators of soil burn severity was determined through a machine learning decision tree, and the relationship between soil indicators and reflectance values (UAV, Sentinel-2 and fused UAV-Sentinel-2 images) was analyzed by means of support vector machine (SVM) regression models. All the considered soil parameters decreased their value with burn severity, but soil moisture content, and, to a lesser extent, soil organic carbon discriminated at best among soil burn severity classes (accuracy= 91.18%; Kappa= 0.82). The performance of reflectance values derived from the fused UAV-Sentinel-2 image to monitor the effects of wildfire on soil characteristics was outstanding, particularly for the case of soil organic carbon content $(R^2 = 0.52; RPD = 1.47)$. This study highlights the advantages of combining satellite and UAV images to produce spatially and spectrally enhanced images, which may be relevant for estimating main impacts on soil properties in burned forest areas where emergency actions need to be applied.

Keywords: soil organic carbon; image fusion; UAV; Sentinel-2; wildfire; soil properties

HIGHLIGHTS

- 1. Soil organic carbon is a very effective biophysical parameter to indicate soil burn severity
- 2. Image sharpening technique showed a notably potential to estimate soil organic carbon accurately
- 3. UAV products enhance spatial information of satellite imagery
- 4. Multispectral products fusion provides relevant information of post-fire soil status

Results




Fire regime attributes shape pre-fire vegetation characteristics controlling extreme fire behavior under different climatic conditions

Article III

Fire regime attributes shape pre-fire vegetation characteristics

controlling extreme fire behavior under different climatic conditions

David Beltrán-Marcos, Susana Suárez-Seoane, José Manuel Fernández-Guisuraga, João C. Azevedo, Leonor Calvo

Article under review in Science of The Total Environment

ABSTRACT

Designing effective land management actions addressed to increase ecosystem resilience requires to understand how shifting fire regimes are shaping landscapes under different climatic conditions. In this study, we aim to assess the role of the link between fire regime and pre-fire vegetation biophysical characteristics (type, amount, and structure) in controlling extreme fire behavior along an Atlantic-Transition-Mediterranean climatic gradient. We used remote sensing metrics to estimate fire severity and pre-fire vegetation characteristics in eight study areas recently affected by large and highly severe wildfires under different climatic and ecological conditions. Furthermore, to account for fire regime attributes, we retrieved, for each target wildfire, the perimeter of the past fires occurred between 1985 and 2022 and calculated fire recurrence, time since the last fire and fire severity of the previous wildfire. The effect of fire regime attributes on pre-fire vegetation was examined using generalized linear mixed models. During the study period, fire recurrence decreased significantly along the entire climatic gradient. Fire severity increased under Atlantic conditions and decreased at the Mediterranean end of the gradient, where times since the last fire was the highest. Pre-fire fuel type and amount were identified as primary drivers of fire severity, being both strongly modulated by fire regime depending on the climatic context. In Atlantic sites, more frequent wildfires of low to moderate fire severity drove to fire-prone shrublands accounting for moderate fuel amount, which increases the risk of severe wildfires. Similar trends occurred in Transition and Mediterranean sites but under the previous occurrence of highly severe wildfires. Specifically, long times after highly severe wildfires increased fuel amount in conifer-dominated ecosystems under all climatic contexts, heightening susceptibility to extreme fire behavior. Our findings highlight that adaptative management strategies to mitigate the effects of shifting fire regimes in fire-prone ecosystems should be specific to the climatic and ecological context.

Keywords: dNBR, fire history, fire severity, fire recurrence, fuel type, fuel amount,

HIGHLIGHTS

- 1. Atlantic and Mediterranean sites had different fire histories over the last 35-years
- 2. Fire regime modulated pre-fire vegetation characteristics driving extreme wildfires
- 3. Links among fire regime attributes and pre-fire vegetation were climate-dependent
- 4. Recurrence and severity lead to extreme fire behavior by tree-shrubland transition
- 5. Long times after severe wildfires drive the highest risk pre-fire situations

Results

Results





Wildland-urban interface typologies prone to high severity fires in Spain

Article IV

Wildland-urban interface typologies

prone to high severity fires in Spain

David Beltrán-Marcos, Leonor Calvo, José Manuel Fernández-Guisuraga, Víctor

Fernández-García, Susana Suárez-Seoane

Article published in **Science of The Total Environment** 2023, 894, 165000 Journal Impact Factor: **9.800** Journal ranking: 20 of 330 (**D1**) in **Environmental Sciences** Rank by Journal Citation Indicator (JCI) <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2023.1650004</u>

ABSTRACT

Due to complex interactions between climate and land use changes, large forest fires have increased in frequency and severity over the last decades, impacting dramatically on biodiversity and society. In southern European countries affected by demographic challenges, fire risk and danger play special relevance at the wildland-urban interfaces (WUIs), where decision-making and land management have strong socio-ecological implications. WUIs have been historically typified according to both fire occurrence probability and settlement vulnerability, but those classifications lack generality regarding fire regime components. We aim to develop an integrated and comprehensive scheme for identifying the WUI typologies most at risk to fire severity across large territories. We selected fourteen large wildfires (over than 500 ha) occurred in Spain (2016-2021) containing different WUI scenarios. First, based on a building cartography and a multitemporal series of Sentinel-2 imagery, each WUI was delimited and spatially characterized according to building density and pre-fire fuel characteristics (type, amount, and structure). Afterwards, a decision tree regression model was applied to identify the most relevant pre-fire vegetation parameters driving burn severity. The combined effect of the selected pre-fire vegetation drivers and the building density patterns on fire severity was evaluated using linear mixed models. Finally, the WUI typologies most prone to high burn severity were recognized using Tukey post-hoc tests. Results indicated that building density, land cover class and vegetation cover fraction determined fire severity in areas close to human settlements. Specifically, isolated, scattered and sparsely clustered buildings enclosed in a high-cover shrub matrix were the WUI typologies most susceptible to high-severity fires. These findings contribute to the development of appropriate strategies to minimize the risk of severe fires in WUIs and avoid potential losses of multiple ecosystem services valuable for society.

Keywords; burn severity; large fire; building density; WUI; Sentinel-2; fractional vegetation cover.

HIGHLIGHTS

- 1. WUIs became a growing concern for forest fire risk and danger in southern Europe
- 2. Fuel type and load drive the extreme burn severity behaviour in WUIs
- 3. Fuel continuity has no relevance on classifying WUIs based on high burn severity risk
- 4. Isolated and scattered buildings highly shrub covered tend to suffer higher severity
- 5. WUI characterization and adaptative measures could reduce the severe fire threat

GENERAL DISCUSSION

Fire behavior has been evolving during the 20th century (Pechony and Shindell, 2010), particularly during the last decades (San-Miguel-Ayanz et al., 2013), leading to increasingly severe wildfires in the context of climate and land use changes in the western Mediterranean Basin (Pausas et al., 2008; Rodrigues et al., 2020; Calheiros et al., 2021). Therefore, the assessment of fire-induced ecological impacts, particularly on forest soils because of their connections with ecosystem functioning and processes rates (Moya et al., 2019; Fernández, 2023), is of utmost importance to provide the scientific basis for adaptive post-fire management strategies aimed at promoting the resilience of wildfire-prone ecosystems (Viedma et al., 2020; Fernández-García et al., 2022). In this context, the pre- and post-fire characterization of forest structures associated with high burn severity likelihood requires the implementation of accurate remote sensing techniques together with field assessments and ecological modelling (Lentile et al., 2006; Matin et al., 2017; Fernández-Guisuraga et al., 2022a). These approaches are particularly relevant when considering critical ecosystem compartments such as forest soils (Mallinis et al., 2016; Torresan et al., 2017), or areas of particular socioeconomic vulnerability such as the WUI (Sirca et al., 2017), where reliable assessments are deemed necessary to provide valuable guidelines for public safety (Safford et al., 2009; Fernandes, 2013). The findings of this PhD Thesis contribute to the development of advanced remote sensing techniques and geospatial approaches (i) to comprehensively assess burn severity in forest soils, including UAV and satellite image fusion techniques, and (ii) to characterize biophysical contexts leading to extreme fire behavior in fireprone ecosystems of the western Mediterranean Basin, including highly vulnerable areas such as WUIs.

Soil burn severity assessment and characterization of biophysical contexts conducive to extreme fire behavior by using passive remote sensing techniques

Passive remote sensors are highly sensitive to spectral changes caused by wildfires (Mallinis et al., 2018), which are mainly linked to vegetation consumption and char signal (Lentile et al., 2006). These spectral changes not only provide useful feedback on burn severity, but also on postfire recovery dynamics over time (Meng et al., 2018), which will determine the need for post-fire restoration actions to recover the functions and services provided by the ecosystems (Jain et al., 2012; Fernández and Vega, 2016). The results of this PhD Thesis evidenced that high spatial resolution imagery obtained by UAVs can accurately capture the spectral variability associated to soil burn severity in complex burned landscapes, where different pre-fire vegetation types induced a high spatial heterogeneity of fire-induced ecological effects. In particular, spectral indices such as NDWI or NDVI obtained by a multispectral sensor aboard the UAV platform performed better than indices based exclusively on the RGB domain to assess soil burn severity. These spectral indices have already been reported as adequate for establishing relationships between field measurements of soil burn severity and remotely sensed data derived from Sentinel-2 MSI and Landsat-7 ETM+ satellite imagery (Marcos et al., 2018; Sobrino et al., 2019), including in post-fire assessments conducted in WUI areas (Efthimiou et al., 2020). However, the obtention of wall-to-wall soil burn severity estimates based on specific field measurements, such as visual indicators (either individually or integrated within an integrative index such as the CBSI), is more

realistic when using UAV imagery due to the fine-scale spatial variation of post-fire soil constituents at the centimeter scale (Johnstone and Chapin, 2006; Fraser et al., 2017), being this PhD Thesis pioneering to this purpose. In this regard, NDWI better modelled and classified soil burn severity through the CBSI index, which integrates biophysical factors such as fine and coarse debris consumed, ash color or char depth, rather than easily interpreted visual indicators (Vega et al., 2013; Morgan et al., 2014). Among the latter, ash depth and cover were the best variables individually related to UAV-derived products, in line with the findings of previous studies (Smith et al., 2005; Robichaud et al., 2007; Hudak et al., 2013).

Although the results of this PhD Thesis evidenced that products at very high spatial resolution are effective for predicting visual indicators of fire effects on soils, UAV multispectral imagery with limited spectral resolution are not accurate enough to evaluate the fire impact on soil biophysical properties (Soriano-Disla et al., 2017). In this respect, passive optical sensors spanning spectral bands in the SWIR region have been reported to improve the prediction of soil properties (Crucil et al., 2019), even in highly heterogeneous environments (Lewis et al., 2008; Dindaroglu et al., 2021). To solve this shortcoming, this PhD Thesis is pioneer in using image sharpening techniques to fuse post-fire UAV multispectral imagery with Sentinel-2 MSI satellite scenes, overcoming the limited UAV spectral resolution and providing enhanced images at high spatial and spectral resolution. These fused images demonstrated a remarkable potential for predicting soil properties highly related to fire behavior, such as soil organic carbon (SOC). These results are in accordance with the recent findings of Brook et al. (2022), who reported that SOC content can be used as a reliable burn severity indicator. Besides SOC, we observed that soil moisture content (SMC) also exhibited noteworthy variations between low-moderate and high soil burn severity, although its estimation performed poorly in all remotely-sensed datasets used. This could be attributed to SMC temporal variability (even during a single day) in burned areas, as other authors have already reported (Gómez-Plaza et al., 2000; Baroni et al., 2013). The aforementioned circumstance, in conjunction with the delay between the timing of the UAV surveys and Sentinel-2 imagery acquisition, may add a degree of uncertainty in the SMC prediction outcomes. Nevertheless, we evidenced that UAV and Sentinel-2 multispectral image fusion have a remarkable potential to procure wall-to-wall soil burn severity estimates in heterogeneous burned areas, and appear to be a potential alternative to increase estimation accuracy in large-scale assessments of fire-induced damage on other ecosystem compartments, such as the vegetation canopies.

Besides post-fire burn severity assessments, UAV remote sensing data can be implemented to assess the risk of extreme fire behavior in the pre-fire stage (Keerthinathan et al., 2023), i.e., by estimating fuel amount (Carvajal-Ramírez et al., 2019) or classification of flammable vegetation (Carbonell-Rivera et al., 2022). Indeed, high-resolution data offered by UAV acquisitions have been useful in identifying wildfire hazard in highly vulnerable areas such as WUI areas (Fernández-Álvarez et al., 2019; Polinova et al., 2019), where a fine-scale analysis of vegetation types, fuel density, and building locations is essential for accurate risk assessment and mitigation planning (Keerthinathan et al., 2023). Nonetheless, satellite imagery at moderate spatial

resolution, such as Sentinel-2 MSI (10-20 m of spatial resolution), are more suitable for vegetation surveys over very large areas (Chuvieco et al., 2020), as it is less time-consuming and more cost-effective than UAV approaches (Keerthinathan et al., 2023). Indeed, the retrieval of vegetation biophysical parameters through physical-based methods applied to satellite imagery may procure a high accuracy and generalization ability (Fernández-Guisuraga et al., 2021a).

This fact is in line with the results of the PhD Thesis, in which the characterization of pre-fire fuel metrics by using physical-based methods applied to multispectral Sentinel-2 MSI data enabled the identification of biophysical contexts conducive to extreme fire behavior under different climatic conditions, particularly in WUI areas. Indeed, the retrieval of biophysical variables such as FCOV or FAPAR through radiative transfer models (RTMs) allowed us to identify fuel amount as the most important proxy for controlling extreme fire behavior both in wildland (García-Llamas et al., 2019; 2020; Viedma et al., 2020; Fernández-García et al., 2022), and in WUI (Fernández-García et al., 2023) areas. These biophysical properties are crucial to characterize the fuel amount in pre- and post-fire environmental assessments in a wide variety shrubland and forest ecosystems (Chu et al., 2016; Verrelst et al., 2019; Fernández-Guisuraga et al., 2021a), providing realistic simulated spectra that are highly correlated with field measurements (Walker et al., 2020; Fernández-Guisuraga et al., 2023a). Moreover, we evidenced that burn severity was not only controlled by the variability of pre-fire vegetation amount, but also by the climate context and dominant ecosystem type, which was successfully identified by pixel classification techniques (Fernández-Guisuraga et al., 2021b Basheer et al., 2022). In contrast, textural features or patch metrics characterizing the horizontal spatial arrangement of the different fuel types were not particularly relevant in the prediction of high burn severity in wildland and WUI areas, probably because these metrics are more related to the biopsychical conditions conducive to fire spread than to burn severity (Fernandes et al., 2016). Nevertheless, FCOV homogeneity improved the prediction of burn severity exclusively in highly clustered WUIs, where vegetation structural characteristics are likely to be affected by human activity (Nielsen-Pincus et al., 2015). Regarding climatic contexts, the accuracy of remote sensing proxies related to pre-fire vegetation characteristics in predicting fire behavior was stronger under Transition and Mediterranean climatic conditions as compared to Atlantic areas. This may be partially explained by the significance of fire weather variables in most humid and productive regions (weather-limited fire regimes), as other authors have previously reported (Fernández-Alonso et al., 2017; Arellano-Pérez et al., 2018). Nonetheless, in this PhD Thesis we have only considered manageable fuelrelated variables derived from satellite imagery, and essential to design pre-fire planning actions aimed at mitigating extreme fire behavior in wildland and WUI areas (Fernández-García et al., 2022; 2023). In this sense, we identified dense conifer stands and intermediate-high fuel amounts in shrublands as the vegetation types most prone to severe wildfires in Transition-Mediterranean and Atlantic areas, respectively. Specifically, the remote sensing techniques used in this PhD Thesis could establish a comprehensive and generalizable classification of susceptibility to extreme fire behavior in WUI areas, where typologies associated to low building densities and high fractional cover of shrubland vegetation type were more prone to severe wildfires. The implications of these finding will be discussed further in the next section.

Time series of historical satellite imagery from Landsat missions (TM, ETM +, and OLI sensors) was also essential to characterize fire regimes in the study sites, and, subsequently, how fire regime attributes have shaped landscapes prone to high fire severity along the climate gradient. Specifically, monthly visual analysis of Landsat images from 1985 to 2022 using false color composites (RGB 541 bands for TM and ETM+ sensors, and 652 for the OLI sensor) allowed an accurate mapping of wildfire scars (Fernández-García et al., 2018; 2020) and computing temporal attributes of the fire regime (i.e., fire recurrence and time since last fire; TSLF). Additionally, recent geospatial tools such as Google Earth Engine (GEE; Gorelick et al., 2017) facilitated the estimation of the variation in fire-induced ecological impacts over the time series, observing a different behavior as a function of the climatic context. In this sense, we observed an upward trend in burn severity in Atlantic areas, as opposed to that found under Transition or Mediterranean environmental conditions. This may be associated to the ecological context of Atlantic areas, which generally show high fuel build-up rates of fast-recovering resprouting species after short fire-free intervals (Pausas and Keeley, 2014; Fernández-García et al., 2020), together with the increase in extreme fire weather conditions in weather-limited areas (Cardil et al., 2015; Calheiros et al., 2021).

Scientific-based support for pre-fire management in non-WUI and WUI areas

Extreme wildfire events, whose frequency is increasing higher than expected as a consequence of global change (Dupuy et al., 2020; Rodrigues et al., 2020), may impair the provision of ecosystem services such as soil conservation, carbon storage or biodiversity (Huerta et al., 2022). In this regard, national and international organizations (e.g., Camia et al., 2017) encourage the investment, development, and implementation of proactive decision support tools for the minimization of drastic ecological consequences promoted by severe wildfires. Nonetheless, strategic wildfires policies are still only partially addressed, which implies the need for a common action framework (Pastor et al., 2020). In this sense, the mapping of soil burn severity by different remote sensing techniques evidenced in this PhD Thesis provides a useful background to design quick and accurate post-fire assessments, which is especially relevant for estimating areas where emergency actions should be focused. Thus, in patches of high soil burn severity would be advisable to avoid both soil tillage and intensive grazing (Moreira et al., 2011; Fernández and Vega, 2016), as well as to promote straw mulching treatment (Huerta et al., 2022) and the establishment of anti-erosion log barriers that can increase water retention and the incorporation of available nutrients into the severely damaged soils (Robichaud et al., 2007; Moody et al., 2013). Moreover, the scientific knowledge generated in this PhD Thesis could also aim to assist land managers in optimizing fire-smart forestry practices that seek to reduce hazardous fuel accumulations and modify the fuel structure, thus increasing forest resistance and resilience to future extreme wildfire events (Fernandes, 2013; García-Llamas et al., 2020).

The evidenced decrease in this PhD Thesis of fire recurrence over the last 35-years in all climatic contexts, probably associated with wildfire suppression policies (Ruffault and Mouillot, 2015),

may be an important determinant of gradual fuel build-up and thus of large and severe wildfire occurrence (Duane et al., 2021). We identified dense shrublands and conifer stands to be the vegetation types most prone to extreme fire behavior wildfires. Consequently, pre-fire management actions should be targeted at reducing the fuel amount in these vegetation types (Moreira et al., 2011; Fernández-García et al., 2022). For this purpose, land managers may use wall-to-wall assessments with physical basis conducted in the PhD Thesis, with low dependence on field data (Fernández-Guisuraga et al., 2021a), to prioritize intervention areas. In this sense, the management of dense and flammable shrublands must be a priority to avoid the perpetuation of high-severity patches prone to recurrent fire feedbacks (van Wagtendonk et al., 2012), as this may foster transitions to shrubland stable states prone to high fire severity in subsequent wildfires. For this purpose, prescribed burning treatments and frequent mechanical clearing activities have been found to be highly effective in generating uneven-aged shrubland patches for mitigating fire behavior by enhancing landscape heterogeneity while reducing fuel load (Valkó et al., 2014). Specifically, these strategies should focus on mature and dense shrubland stands located for intermediate site productivity in Atlantic areas, and to a lesser extent under Transitional or Mediterranean conditions, since were situations highly prone to severe wildfires (Fernández-Alonso et al., 2017; García-Llamas et al., 2019; Fernández-Guisuraga et al., 2021b). Concerning the coniferous stands, pine forests with high fuel continuity were the most prone vegetation type to extreme fire behavior under Transition and Mediterranean environmental conditions, which may be related to the presence of dense, ladder fuels in the understory of unmanaged stands with high crowning potential (Fernandes and Rigolot, 2007; Kane et al., 2015; García-Llamas et al., 2020; Fernández-Guisuraga et al., 2021a, 2023b). High post-fire seedling recruitment after severe wildfires in these regions, together with long fire-free periods, may be responsible for the accumulation of flammable fuels that are likely to undergo high severity feedbacks in subsequent wildfires. Therefore, the implementation of different silvicultural practices such as (i) pruning and removal of low and dead branches to raise the base height of the canopy and avoid ladder fuels (Fernández-Guisuraga et al., 2021b), (ii) breaking vertical continuity by reducing fuel accumulation in the understory (Fernandes, 2013), and (iii) thinning the stand combined with low to moderate intensity prescribed fires to create open patches and reduce the canopy horizontal continuity (Moreira et al., 2011; García-Llamas et al., 2020; Viedma et al., 2020), must be priority actions. Furthermore, the prevention of extreme wildfires may be also facilitated through the establishment of heterogeneous landscape mosaics, with distinct vegetation types and tree cover densities (Fernandes, 2013). A landscape characterized by resilient vegetation mosaics effectively maintained in areas with long fire-free periods, would not only serve as an effective measure to reduce wildfire hazard, but also enhance the potential of ecosystem services' provision (Moghli et al., 2022). In this sense, the promotion of fuel-type conversion under reforestation policies after wildfires with less flammable vegetation types (Dimitrakopoulos and Papaioannou, 2001) may provide an opportunity to promote fuel-limited woodlands with strong post-fire resilience and resistance to fire (Fernandes, 2013). Additionally, recovery of traditional land uses such as extensive livestock farming would allow for better landscape management by avoiding large continuities of shrub fuels prone to high severity (García-Llamas et al., 2019: 2020; Viedma et

al., 2020). Moreover, these actuations are a priority in areas with high rural abandonment, where landscape fragmentation may impair large fire spread and intensity (Azevedo et al., 2011).

The identification in this PhD Thesis of priority scenarios for effective land use planning, wildfire prevention and management strategies, community education, and collaborative efforts in WUI areas are essential to address the challenges posed by new-generation wildfires to population in rural areas (Chas-Amil et al., 2013; Modugno et al., 2016; Samara et al., 2018; Pastor et al., 2020). Besides the management strategies abovementioned for wildland areas, we emphasize that the reduction of homogeneous fuel types, particularly shrub fuels around isolated and dispersed WUIs must be a priority intervention line. These actions should focus on breaking the fuel horizontal continuity and encouraging the development of diverse landscape mosaics to foster resistance and resilience to fire (Fernandes, 2013). This can be achieved by supporting sustainable and traditional activities such as extensive livestock grazing or silvicultural actions by work crews, which is essential for population fixation in sociologically relevant areas such as WUIs.

REFERENCES

- Arellano-Pérez, S., et. al., 2018. Mapping fire severity levels of burned areas in Galicia (NW Spain) by Landsat images and the dNBR index: preliminary results about the influence of topographical, meteorological and fuel factors on the highest severity level. Adv. For. fire Res. 2018 1053–1060. https://doi.org/10.14195/978-989-26-16-506_116
- Azevedo, J.C., Moreira, C., Castro, J.P., Loureiro, C., 2011. Agriculture Abandonment, Land-use Change and Fire Hazard in Mountain Landscapes in Northeastern Portugal. Landsc. Ecol. For. Manag. Conserv. 329–351. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-12754-0_14</u>
- Baroni, G., Ortuani, B., Facchi, A., Gandolfi, C., 2013. The role of vegetation and soil properties on the spatio-temporal variability of the surface soil moisture in a maize-cropped field. J. Hydrol. 489, 148– 159. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhydrol.2013.03.007</u>
- Basheer, S., Wang, X., Farooque, A.A., Nawaz, R.A., Liu, K., Adekanmbi, T., Liu, S., 2022. Comparison of Land Use Land Cover Classifiers Using Different Satellite Imagery and Machine Learning Techniques. Remote Sens. 14, 1–18. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/rs14194978</u>
- Bassett, M., Leonard, S.W.J., Chia, E.K., Clarke, M.F., Bennett, A.F., 2017. Interacting effects of fire severity, time since fire and topography on vegetation structure after wildfire. For. Ecol. Manage. 396, 26–34. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FORECO.2017.04.006</u>
- Brook, A., Hamzi, S., Roberts, D., Ichoku, C., Shtober-Zisu, N., Wittenberg, L., 2022. Total Carbon Content Assessed by UAS Near-Infrared Imagery as a New Fire Severity Metric. Remote Sens. 2022, Vol. 14, Page 3632 14, 3632. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/RS14153632</u>
- Calheiros, T., Pereira, M.G., Nunes, J.P., 2021. Assessing impacts of future climate change on extreme fire weather and pyro-regions in Iberian Peninsula. Sci. Total Environ. 754, 142233. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2020.142233
- Calviño-Cancela, M., Chas-Amil, M.L., García-Martínez, E.D., Touza, J., 2016. Wildfire risk associated with different vegetation types within and outside wildland-urban interfaces. For. Ecol. Manage. 372, 1–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FORECO.2016.04.002</u>

- Camia, A., Libertá, G., San-Miguel-Ayanz, J., 2017. Modeling the impacts of climate change on forest fire danger in Europe Sectorial results of the PESETA II Project. <u>https://doi.org/10.2760/768481</u>
- Carbonell-Rivera, J.P., Torralba, J., Estornell, J., Ruiz, L.Á., Crespo-Peremarch, P., 2022. Classification of Mediterranean Shrub Species from UAV Point Clouds. Remote Sens. 2022, Vol. 14, Page 199 14, 199. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/RS14010199</u>
- Carvajal-Ramírez, F., Serrano, J.M.P.R., Agüera-Vega, F., Martínez-Carricondo, P., 2019. A Comparative Analysis of Phytovolume Estimation Methods Based on UAV-Photogrammetry and Multispectral Imagery in a Mediterranean Forest. Remote Sens. 2019, Vol. 11, Page 2579 11, 2579. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/RS11212579</u>
- Chas-Amil, M.L., Touza, J., García-Martínez, E., 2013. Forest fires in the wildland–urban interface: A spatial analysis of forest fragmentation and human impacts. Appl. Geogr. 43, 127–137. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.APGEOG.2013.06.010
- Chuvieco, E., Aguado, I., Salas, J., García, M., Yebra, M., Oliva, P., 2020. Satellite Remote Sensing Contributions to Wildland Fire Science and Management. Curr. For. Reports 6, 81–96. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/S40725-020-00116-5/TABLES/1</u>
- Crucil, G., Castaldi, F., Aldana-Jague, E., van Wesemael, B., Macdonald, A., Oost, K., 2019. Assessing the performance of UAS-Compatible multispectral and hyperspectral sensors for soil organic carbon prediction. Sustain. 11. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su11071889</u>
- Dimitrakopoulos, A.P., Papaioannou, K.K., 2001. Flammability assessment of Mediterranean forest fuels. Fire Technol. 37, 143–152. <u>https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1011641601076/METRICS</u>
- Dindaroglu, T., Babur, E., Yakupoglu, T., Rodrigo-Comino, J., Cerdà, A., 2021. Evaluation of geomorphometric characteristics and soil properties after a wildfire using Sentinel-2 MSI imagery for future fire-safe forest. Fire Saf. J. 122, 103318. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FIRESAF.2021.103318</u>
- Duane, A., Castellnou, M., Brotons, L., 2021. Towards a comprehensive look at global drivers of novel extreme wildfire events. Clim. Chang. 2021 1653 165, 1–21. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/S10584-021-03066-4</u>
- Dupuy, J. luc, Fargeon, H., Martin-StPaul, N., Pimont, F., Ruffault, J., Guijarro, M., Hernando, C., Madrigal, J., Fernandes, P., 2020. Climate change impact on future wildfire danger and activity in southern Europe: a review. Ann. For. Sci. 77. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s13595-020-00933-5</u>
- Efthimiou, N., Psomiadis, E., Panagos, P., 2020. Fire severity and soil erosion susceptibility mapping using multi-temporal Earth Observation data: The case of Mati fatal wildfire in Eastern Attica, Greece. CATENA 187, 104320. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CATENA.2019.104320
- Fernandes, P.M., Rigolot, E., 2007. The fire ecology and management of maritime pine (Pinus pinaster Ait.). For. Ecol. Manage. 241, 1–13. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FORECO.2007.01.010</u>
- Fernandes, P.M., 2013. Fire-smart management of forest landscapes in the Mediterranean basin under global change. Landsc. Urban Plan. 110, 175–182. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.LANDURBPLAN.2012.10.014
- Fernandes, P.M., Luz, A., Loureiro, C., 2010. Changes in wildfire severity from maritime pine woodland to contiguous forest types in the mountains of northwestern Portugal. For. Ecol. Manage. 260, 883–892. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FOREC0.2010.06.008</u>
- Fernandes, P.M., Barros, A.M.G., Pinto, A., Santos, J.A., 2016. Characteristics and controls of extremely large wildfires in the western Mediterranean Basin. J. Geophys. Res. Biogeosciences 121, 2141–2157. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/2016JG003389</u>
- Fernández-Alonso, J.M., Vega, J.A., Jiménez, E., Ruiz-González, A.D., Álvarez-González, J.G., 2017. Spatially modeling wildland fire severity in pine forests of Galicia, Spain. Eur. J. For. Res. 136, 105– 121. https://doi.org/10.1007/S10342-016-1012-5/FIGURES/7

- Fernández-Álvarez, M., Armesto, J., Picos, J., 2019. LiDAR-Based Wildfire Prevention in WUI: The Automatic Detection, Measurement and Evaluation of Forest Fuels. For. 2019, Vol. 10, Page 148 10, 148. https://doi.org/10.3390/F10020148
- Fernández-García, V., Quintano, C., Taboada, A., Marcos, E., Calvo, L., Fernández-Manso, A., 2018. Remote sensing applied to the study of fire regime attributes and their influence on post-fire greenness recovery in pine ecosystems. Remote Sens. 10. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs10050733
- Fernández-García, V., Fulé, P.Z., Marcos, E., Calvo, L., 2019. The role of fire frequency and severity on the regeneration of Mediterranean serotinous pines under different environmental conditions. For. Ecol. Manage. 444, 59–68. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FORECO.2019.04.040
- Fernández-García, V., Marcos, E., Fulé, P.Z., Reyes, O., Santana, V.M., Calvo, L., 2020. Fire regimes shape diversity and traits of vegetation under different climatic conditions. Sci. Total Environ. 716, 137137. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2020.137137</u>
- Fernández-García, V., Beltrán-Marcos, D., Fernández-Guisuraga, J.M., Marcos, E., Calvo, L., 2022. Predicting potential wildfire severity across Southern Europe with global data sources. Sci. Total Environ. 829, 154729. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2022.154729</u>
- Fernández-García, V., Beltrán-Marcos, D., Calvo, L., 2023. Building patterns and fuel features drive wildfire severity in wildland-urban interfaces in Southern Europe. Landsc. Urban Plan. 231, 104646. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.LANDURBPLAN.2022.104646</u>
- Fernández-Guisuraga, J.M., Sanz-Ablanedo, E., Suárez-Seoane, S., Calvo, L., 2018. Using unmanned aerial vehicles in postfire vegetation survey campaigns through large and heterogeneous areas: Opportunities and challenges. Sensors (Switzerland) 18. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/s18020586</u>
- Fernández-Guisuraga, J.M., Verrelst, J., Calvo, L., Suárez-Seoane, S., 2021a. Hybrid inversion of radiative transfer models based on high spatial resolution satellite reflectance data improves fractional vegetation cover retrieval in heterogeneous ecological systems after fire. Remote Sens. Environ. 255. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2021.112304
- Fernández-Guisuraga, J.M., Suárez-Seoane, S., García-Llamas, P., Calvo, L., 2021b. Vegetation structure parameters determine high burn severity likelihood in different ecosystem types: A case study in a burned Mediterranean landscape. J. Environ. Manage. 288, 112462. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JENVMAN.2021.112462</u>
- Fernández-Guisuraga, J.M., Suárez-Seoane, S., Fernandes, P.M., Fernández-García, V., Fernández-Manso, A., Quintano, C., Calvo, L., 2022a. Pre-fire aboveground biomass, estimated from LiDAR, spectral and field inventory data, as a major driver of burn severity in maritime pine (Pinus pinaster) ecosystems. For. Ecosyst. 9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FECS.2022.100022</u>
- Fernández-Guisuraga, J.M., Calvo, L., Suárez-Seoane, S., 2022b. Monitoring post-fire neighborhood competition effects on pine saplings under different environmental conditions by means of UAV multispectral data and structure-from-motion photogrammetry. J. Environ. Manage. 305, 114373. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JENVMAN.2021.114373</u>
- Fernández-Guisuraga, J.M., Calvo, L., Quintano, C., Fernández-Manso, A., Fernandes, P.M., 2023a. Fractional vegetation cover ratio estimated from radiative transfer modeling outperforms spectral indices to assess fire severity in several Mediterranean plant communities. Remote Sens. Environ. 290. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2023.113542</u>
- Fernández-Guisuraga, J.M., Martins, S., Fernandes, P.M., 2023b. Characterization of biophysical contexts leading to severe wildfires in Portugal and their environmental controls. Sci. Total Environ. 875, 162575. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2023.162575</u>
- Fernández, C., Vega, J.A., 2016. Modelling the effect of soil burn severity on soil erosion at hillslope scale in the first year following wildfire in NW Spain. Earth Surf. Process. Landforms 41, 928–935. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/esp.3876</u>

- Fernández, C., 2023. Soil fire severity is more relevant than fire frequency in explaining soil, carbon and nitrogen losses and vegetation recovery after wildfire in NW Spain. J. Environ. Manage. 327, 116876. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JENVMAN.2022.116876
- Fraser, R.H., van der Sluijs, J., Hall, R.J., 2017. Calibrating satellite-based indices of burn severity from UAV-derived metrics of a burned boreal forest in NWT, Canada. Remote Sens. 9. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/rs9030279</u>
- García-Llamas, P., Suárez-Seoane, S., Taboada, A., Fernández-Manso, A., Quintano, C., Fernández-García, V., Fernández-Guisuraga, J.M., Marcos, E., Calvo, L., 2019. Environmental drivers of fire severity in extreme fire events that affect Mediterranean pine forest ecosystems. For. Ecol. Manage. 433, 24–32. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FORECO.2018.10.051</u>
- García-Llamas, P., Suárez-Seoane, S., Fernández-Manso, A., Quintano, C., Calvo, L., 2020. Evaluation of fire severity in fire prone-ecosystems of Spain under two different environmental conditions. J. Environ. Manage. 271, 110706. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JENVMAN.2020.110706</u>
- Gibson, R., Danaher, T., Hehir, W., Collins, L., 2020. A remote sensing approach to mapping fire severity in south-eastern Australia using sentinel 2 and random forest. Remote Sens. Environ. 240, 111702. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.RSE.2020.111702
- Gómez-Plaza, A., Alvarez-Rogel, J., Albaladejo, J., Castillo, V.M., 2000. Spatial patterns and temporal stability of soil moisture across a range of scales in a semi-arid environment. Hydrol. Process. 14, 1261– 1277. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/(sici)1099-1085(200005)14:7<1261::aid-hyp40>3.3.co;2-4</u>
- Herrero-Corral, G., Jappiot, M., Bouillon, C., Long-Fournel, M., 2012. Application of a geographical assessment method for the characterization of wildland–urban interfaces in the context of wildfire prevention: A case study in western Madrid. Appl. Geogr. 35, 60–70. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.APGEOG.2012.05.005</u>
- Hudak, A.T., Ottmar, R.D., Vihnanek, R.E., Brewer, N.W., Smith, A.M.S., Morgan, P., Hudak, A.T., Ottmar, R.D., Vihnanek, R.E., Brewer, N.W., Smith, A.M.S., Morgan, P., 2013. The relationship of post-fire white ash cover to surface fuel consumption. Int. J. Wildl. Fire 22, 780–785. https://doi.org/10.1071/WF12150
- Huerta, S., Marcos, E., Fernández-García, V., Calvo, L., 2022. Short-term effects of burn severity on ecosystem multifunctionality in the northwest Iberian Peninsula. Sci. Total Environ. 844, 157193. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2022.157193</u>
- Jain, T.B., Pilliod, D.S., Graham, R.T., Lentile, L.B., Sandquist, J.E., 2012. Index for Characterizing Post-Fire Soil Environments in Temperate Coniferous Forests. Forests 3, 445–466. https://doi.org/10.3390/f3030445
- Johnstone, J.F., Chapin, F.S., 2006. Effects of soil burn severity on post-fire tree recruitment in boreal forest. Ecosystems 9, 14–31. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/S10021-004-0042-X/FIGURES/10</u>
- Kane, V.R., Cansler, C.A., Povak, N.A., Kane, J.T., McGaughey, R.J., Lutz, J.A., Churchill, D.J., North, M.P., 2015. Mixed severity fire effects within the Rim fire: Relative importance of local climate, fire weather, topography, and forest structure. For. Ecol. Manage. 358, 62–79. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FORECO.2015.09.001
- Keeley, J.E., 2002. Fire management of California shrubland landscapes. Environ. Manage. 29, 395–408. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/S00267-001-0034-Y/METRICS</u>
- Keeley, J., 2012. Fire in Mediterranean Climate Ecosystems—A Comparative Overview. Isr. J. Ecol. Evol. 58, 123–135. <u>https://doi.org/10.1560/IJEE.58.2-3.123</u>
- Keerthinathan, P., Amarasingam, N., Hamilton, G., Gonzalez, F., 2023. Exploring unmanned aerial systems operations in wildfire management: data types, processing algorithms and navigation. Int. J. Remote Sens. 44, 5628–5685. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/01431161.2023.2249604</u>

- Kennedy, M.C., Johnson, M.C., 2014. Fuel treatment prescriptions alter spatial patterns of fire severity around the wildland–urban interface during the Wallow Fire, Arizona, USA. For. Ecol. Manage. 318, 122–132. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FORECO.2014.01.014</u>
- Lentile, L.B., Holden, Z.A., Smith, A.M.S., Falkowski, M.J., Hudak, A.T., Morgan, P., Lewis, S.A., Gessler, P.E., Benson, N.C., 2006. Remote sensing techniques to assess active fire characteristics and post-fire effects. Int. J. Wildl. Fire. <u>https://doi.org/10.1071/WF05097</u>
- Lewis, S.A., Robichaud, P.R., Frazier, B.E., Wu, J.Q., Laes, D.Y.M., 2008. Using hyperspectral imagery to predict post-wildfire soil water repellency. Geomorphology 95, 192–205. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geomorph.2007.06.002
- Mallinis, G., Gitas, I.Z., Tasionas, G., Maris, F., 2016. Multitemporal Monitoring of Land Degradation Risk Due to Soil Loss in a Fire-Prone Mediterranean Landscape Using Multi-decadal Landsat Imagery. Water Resour. Manag. 30, 1255–1269. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11269-016-1224-y</u>
- Mallinis, G., Mitsopoulos, I., Chrysafi, I., 2018. Evaluating and comparing sentinel 2A and landsat-8 operational land imager (OLI) spectral indices for estimating fire severity in a mediterranean pine ecosystem of Greece. GIScience Remote Sens. 55, 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1080/15481603.2017.1354803
- Marcos, E., Fernández-García, V., Fernández-Manso, A., Quintano, C., Valbuena, L., Tárrega, R., Luis-Calabuig, E., Calvo, L., 2018. Evaluation of Composite Burn Index and Land Surface Temperature for assessing soil burn severity in mediterranean fire-prone pine ecosystems. Forests 9, 1–16. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/f9080494</u>
- Meng, R., Wu, J., Zhao, F., Cook, B.D., Hanavan, R.P., Serbin, S.P., 2018. Measuring short-term post-fire forest recovery across a burn severity gradient in a mixed pine-oak forest using multi-sensor remote sensing techniques. Remote Sens. Environ. 210, 282–296. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2018.03.019</u>
- Modugno, S., Balzter, H., Cole, B., Borrelli, P., 2016. Mapping regional patterns of large forest fires in Wildland–Urban Interface areas in Europe. J. Environ. Manage. 172, 112–126. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JENVMAN.2016.02.013
- Moghli, A., Santana, V.M., Baeza, M.J., Pastor, E., Soliveres, S., 2022. Fire Recurrence and Time Since Last Fire Interact to Determine the Supply of Multiple Ecosystem Services by Mediterranean Forests. Ecosystems 25, 1358–1370. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/S10021-021-00720-X/FIGURES/3</u>
- Molina, J.R., Martín, T., Rodríguez Y Silva, F., Herrera, M.Á., 2017. The ignition index based on flammability of vegetation improves planning in the wildland-urban interface: A case study in Southern Spain. Landsc. Urban Plan. 158, 129–138. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.LANDURBPLAN.2016.11.003
- Moody, J.A., Shakesby, R.A., Robichaud, P.R., Cannon, S.H., Martin, D.A., 2013. Current research issues related to post-wildfire runoff and erosion processes. Earth-Science Rev. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.earscirev.2013.03.004</u>
- Moreira, F., Viedma, O., Arianoutsou, M., Curt, T., Koutsias, N., Rigolot, E., Barbati, A., Corona, P., Vaz, P., Xanthopoulos, G., Mouillot, F., Bilgili, E., 2011. Landscape wildfire interactions in southern Europe: Implications for landscape management. J. Environ. Manage. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2011.06.028
- Morgan, P., Keane, R.E., Dillon, G.K., Jain, T.B., Hudak, A.T., Karau, E.C., Sikkink, P.G., Holden, Z.A., Strand, E.K., 2014. Challenges of assessing fire and burn severity using field measures, remote sensing and modelling. Int. J. Wildl. Fire 23, 1045–1060. <u>https://doi.org/10.1071/WF13058</u>
- Moya, D., González-De Vega, S., Lozano, E., García-Orenes, F., Mataix-Solera, J., Lucas-Borja, M.E., de las Heras, J., 2019. The burn severity and plant recovery relationship affect the biological and chemical soil properties of Pinus halepensis Mill. stands in the short and mid-terms after wildfire. J. Environ. Manage. 235, 250–256. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JENVMAN.2019.01.029</u>

- Nielsen-Pincus, M., Ribe, R.G., Johnson, B.R., 2015. Spatially and socially segmenting private landowner motivations, properties, and management: A typology for the wildland urban interface. Landsc. Urban Plan. 137, 1–12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.LANDURBPLAN.2014.11.020</u>
- Pádua, L., Guimarães, N., Adão, T., Sousa, A., Peres, E., Sousa, J.J., 2020. Effectiveness of Sentinel-2 in Multi-Temporal Post-Fire Monitoring When Compared with UAV Imagery. ISPRS Int. J. Geo-Information 2020, Vol. 9, Page 225 9, 225. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/IJGI9040225</u>
- Pastor, E., Muñoz, J.A., Caballero, D., Àgueda, A., Dalmau, F., Planas, E., 2020. Wildland–Urban Interface Fires in Spain: Summary of the Policy Framework and Recommendations for Improvement. Fire Technol. 56, 1831–1851. https://doi.org/10.1007/S10694-019-00883-Z/FIGURES/4
- Pausas, J.G., Keeley, J.E., 2021. Wildfires and global change. Front. Ecol. Environ. 19, 387–395. https://doi.org/10.1002/FEE.2359
- Pausas, J.G., Llovet, J., Rodrigo, A., Vallejo, R., 2008. Are wildfires a disaster in the Mediterranean basin? A review. Int. J. Wildl. Fire. <u>https://doi.org/10.1071/WF07151</u>
- Pechony, O., Shindell, D.T., 2010. Driving forces of global wildfires over the past millennium and the forthcoming century. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 107, 19167–19170. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.1003669107/ASSET/E5BAE289-2CDB-4874-90EE-</u> 79AF2EC81C18/ASSETS/GRAPHIC/PNAS.1003669107EQ1.GIF
- Polinova, M., Wittenberg, L., Kutiel, H., Brook, A., 2019. Reconstructing pre-fire vegetation condition in the wildland urban interface (WUI) using artificial neural network. J. Environ. Manage. 238, 224–234. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JENVMAN.2019.02.091</u>
- Robichaud, P.R., Lewis, S.A., Laes, D.Y.M., Hudak, A.T., Kokaly, R.F., Zamudio, J.A., 2007. Postfire soil burn severity mapping with hyperspectral image unmixing. Remote Sens. Environ. 108, 467–480. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2006.11.027
- Rodrigues, M., Jiménez-Ruano, A., de la Riva, J., 2020. Fire regime dynamics in mainland Spain. Part 1: Drivers of change. Sci. Total Environ. 721, 135841. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2019.135841
- Safford, H.D., Schmidt, D.A., Carlson, C.H., 2009. Effects of fuel treatments on fire severity in an area of wildland–urban interface, Angora Fire, Lake Tahoe Basin, California. For. Ecol. Manage. 258, 773– 787. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FORECO.2009.05.024
- Samara, T., Raptis, D., Spanos, I., 2018. Fuel Treatments and Potential Fire Behavior in Peri-Urban Forests in Northern Greece. Environ. 2018, Vol. 5, Page 79 5, 79. https://doi.org/10.3390/ENVIRONMENTS5070079
- San-Miguel-Ayanz, J., Moreno, J.M., Camia, A., 2013. Analysis of large fires in European Mediterranean landscapes: Lessons learned and perspectives. For. Ecol. Manage. 294, 11–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FORECO.2012.10.050
- Sirca, C., Casula, F., Bouillon, C., García, B.F., Fernández Ramiro, M.M., Molina, B.V., Spano, D., 2017. A wildfire risk oriented GIS tool for mapping Rural-Urban Interfaces. Environ. Model. Softw. 94, 36– 47. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENVSOFT.2017.03.024
- Smith, A.M.S., Wooster, M.J., Drake, N.A., Dipotso, F.M., Falkowski, M.J., Hudak, A.T., 2005. Testing the potential of multi-spectral remote sensing for retrospectively estimating fire severity in African Savannahs. Remote Sens. Environ. 97, 92–115. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2005.04.014</u>
- Sobrino, J., Llorens, R., Fernández, C., Fernández-Alonso, J., Vega, J., 2019. Relationship between Soil Burn Severity in Forest Fires Measured In Situ and through Spectral Indices of Remote Detection. Forests 10, 457. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/f10050457</u>
- Soriano-Disla, J.M., Janik, L.J., Allen, D.J., McLaughlin, M.J., 2017. Evaluation of the performance of portable visible-infrared instruments for the prediction of soil properties. Biosyst. Eng. 161, 24–36. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biosystemseng.2017.06.017</u>

- Taboada, A., Tárrega, R., Marcos, E., Valbuena, L., Suárez-Seoane, S., Calvo, L., 2017. Fire recurrence and emergency post-fire management influence seedling recruitment and growth by altering plant interactions in fire-prone ecosystems. For. Ecol. Manage. 402, 63–75. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2017.07.029</u>
- Tanase, M.A., Santoro, M., Wegmüller, U., de la Riva, J., Pérez-Cabello, F., 2010. Properties of X-, C- and L-band repeat-pass interferometric SAR coherence in Mediterranean pine forests affected by fires. Remote Sens. Environ. 114, 2182–2194. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.RSE.2010.04.021</u>
- Torresan, C., Berton, A., Carotenuto, F., Di Gennaro, S.F., Gioli, B., Matese, A., Miglietta, F., Vagnoli, C., Zaldei, A., Wallace, L., 2017. Forestry applications of UAVs in Europe: a review. Int. J. Remote Sens. 38, 2427–2447. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/01431161.2016.1252477</u>
- Valkó, O., Török, P., Deák, B., Tóthmérész, B., 2014. Review: Prospects and limitations of prescribed burning as a management tool in European grasslands. Basic Appl. Ecol. 15, 26–33. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BAAE.2013.11.002</u>
- Vega, J.A., Fontúrbel, T., Merino, A., Fernández, C., Ferreiro, A., Jiménez, E., 2013. Testing the ability of visual indicators of soil burn severity to reflect changes in soil chemical and microbial properties in pine forests and shrubland. Plant Soil 369, 73–91. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-012-1532-9</u>
- Verrelst, J., Vicent, J., Rivera-Caicedo, J.P., Lumbierres, M., Morcillo-Pallarés, P., Moreno, J., 2019. Global Sensitivity Analysis of Leaf-Canopy-Atmosphere RTMs: Implications for Biophysical Variables Retrieval from Top-of-Atmosphere Radiance Data. Remote Sens. 2019, Vol. 11, Page 1923 11, 1923. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/RS11161923</u>
- Viedma, O., Chico, F., Fernández, J.J., Madrigal, C., Safford, H.D., Moreno, J.M., 2020. Disentangling the role of prefire vegetation vs. burning conditions on fire severity in a large forest fire in SE Spain. Remote Sens. Environ. 247, 111891. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.RSE.2020.111891</u>
- Walker, X.J., Rogers, B.M., Veraverbeke, S., Johnstone, J.F., Baltzer, J.L., Barrett, K., Bourgeau-Chavez, L., Day, N.J., de Groot, W.J., Dieleman, C.M., Goetz, S., Hoy, E., Jenkins, L.K., Kane, E.S., Parisien, M.A., Potter, S., Schuur, E.A.G., Turetsky, M., Whitman, E., Mack, M.C., 2020. Fuel availability not fire weather controls boreal wildfire severity and carbon emissions. Nat. Clim. Chang. 2020 1012 10, 1130–1136. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41558-020-00920-8</u>

Conclusions

CONCLUSIONS

Burn severity indicators in forest soils

- Multispectral products, such as the NDWI index, are well suited to characterize spatial variation on soil burn severity at fine scales when derived from very high spatial resolution imagery obtained with UAV technology. These multispectral products are more correlated with integrated field measurements, such as the composite multi-parameter soil burn severity index (CBSI), than with individual indicators. Nonetheless, ash depth and ash cover are the visual indicators that reflect most accurately fire-induced ecological impact on forest soil.
- 2) Soil organic carbon and soil moisture content are effective biophysical parameters to indicate soil burn severity in heterogeneous burned areas but cannot be predicted with exclusively UAV-derived data. However, the fusion of multispectral satellite and UAV data through image sharpening techniques shows remarkable potential to provide accurate soil status information after mixed-severity wildfires.

Link between fire regime attributes and pre-fire vegetation characteristics that drive bun severity in extreme wildfires

- 3) Satellite time-series data at high spatial resolution reveal a decreasing trend in fire recurrence along the Atlantic-Transition-Mediterranean climatic gradient, as well as an increase in burn severity under Atlantic conditions. Fire regime attributes strongly modulate pre-fire vegetation characteristics that shape landscapes prone to high fire severity, being the underlying mechanisms climate-dependent.
- 4) Pre-fire fuel type and amount are the primary drivers of burn severity across the climatic gradient. Extreme fire behaviour is controlled by the presence of dense and closed coniferous stands, under Mediterranean and Transitional conditions, and by intermediate-high shrub amount, under Atlantic conditions, where very dense live biomass suffer flammability limitations caused by high moisture loads under mesic environments.
- 5) In all climatic conditions, long times after high-severity wildfire disturbances enhance fuel build-up of conifer-type fuels, and, thus, proneness to subsequent severe fire behavior. In Atlantic sites, high fire recurrence, even at low to moderate fire severity, induces transitions to shrubland stable ecosystem states with intermediate fuel amount and perpetuates fire-prone vegetation types. The same behavior is evidenced in shrublands of Transition and Mediterranean sites after high fire severity wildfires.

Vulnerability of wildland-urban interfaces to high severity fires

6) In WUI areas, the most at-risk typologies, in terms of suffering an extreme fire behavior, rely largely on fuel type and amount, as well as on the configuration of building aggregations. Horizontal fuel structure has been particularly useful in explaining fire risk, in terms of ignition density and proportion of area burned, but does not show great relevance for understanding spatial variations in burn severity.

Conclusions

7) Low building density enclosed into a homogeneous and dense pre-fire shrubland matrix defines the WUI typology most prone to high burn severity. In addition, interface areas dominated by forest fuel with low vegetation cover values, which often have a dense and continuous understory of small shrubs, is another key typology prone to extreme fire behavior.

Science-based implications for pre-fire management decision-making

- 8) General actions aimed at reducing the risk of extreme wildfires should involve, under all climatic conditions, a reduction of fuel density in coniferous stands through thinning, pruning or clearing techniques, mainly after long fire-free periods. In Atlantic areas and, to a lesser extent, in Transitional or Mediterranean sites, it is also advisable to thin mature shrub accumulation and create uneven-aged vegetation patches by combining clearing with prescribed burning. These actions should create breaks in ladder fuel continuity and increase landscape heterogeneity, which helps to reduce the probability of crown fires and mitigate extreme fire behaviour.
- 9) In WUI areas, the priority line of intervention is the increase of landscape heterogeneity, mainly in isolated and dispersed WUIs enclosed in high-cover shrub matrices. Supporting sustainable and traditional agroforestry and pastoral activities in rural areas is key, not only for population fixation, but also for enabling landscape management that hinders large and severe wildfires.

Conclusiones

CONCLUSIONES

Conclusiones

Indicadores de severidad en suelos forestales

- 1) Los productos multiespectrales, como el índice NDWI, son muy adecuados para caracterizar la variación espacial de la severidad del suelo a escala fina cuando se obtienen a partir de imágenes de muy alta resolución espacial obtenidas con tecnología UAV. Estos productos multiespectrales están más correlacionados con las mediciones de campo integradas, como el índice compuesto multiparamétrico de severidad del fuego en el suelo (CBSI), que con indicadores individuales. No obstante, la profundidad y la cobertura de ceniza son los indicadores visuales que reflejan con mayor precisión el impacto ecológico inducido por el fuego en el suelo forestal.
- 2) El carbono orgánico del suelo y el contenido de humedad del suelo son parámetros biofísicos eficaces para indicar la severidad del suelo en áreas quemadas heterogéneas, pero no pueden predecirse exclusivamente con datos obtenidos mediante UAV. Sin embargo, la fusión de datos multiespectrales de satélite y de UAV mediante técnicas "pansharpening" muestra un potencial notable para proporcionar información precisa sobre el estado del suelo tras incendios forestales de severidad mixta.

Relación entre los atributos del régimen de incendios y las características de la vegetación previas al incendio que determinan la severidad de los incendios forestales extremos

- 3) Los datos de series temporales de satélites de alta resolución espacial revelan una tendencia decreciente en la recurrencia de incendios a lo largo del gradiente climático Atlántico-Transición-Mediterráneo, así como un aumento en la severidad en condiciones Atlánticas. Los atributos del régimen de incendios modulan fuertemente las características de la vegetación previas al incendio que dan forma a los paisajes propensos a una alta severidad del fuego, siendo los mecanismos subyacentes dependientes del clima.
- 4) El tipo y la cantidad de combustible previo al incendio son los principales factores determinantes de la severidad en todo el gradiente climático. El comportamiento extremo del fuego está controlado por la presencia de masas densas y cerradas de coníferas, en condiciones Mediterráneas y de Transición, y por la cantidad intermedia-alta de arbustos, en condiciones Atlánticas, donde la biomasa viva muy densa sufre limitaciones de inflamabilidad causadas por las altas cargas de humedad en ambientes mésicos.
- 5) En todas las condiciones climáticas, los largos periodos de tiempo que transcurren tras los incendios forestales de alta severidad aumentan la acumulación de combustibles de tipo coníferas y, por tanto, la propensión a incendios severos posteriores. En las zonas Atlánticas, la alta recurrencia de incendios, incluso de baja a moderada severidad, induce transiciones a estados estables del ecosistema de matorral con una cantidad intermedia de combustible, perpetuando los tipos de vegetación propensos al fuego. El mismo comportamiento se evidencia en matorrales de sitios de Transición y Mediterráneos tras incendios forestales de alta severidad.

Vulnerabilidad de las interfaces urbano-forestal ante incendios de alta severidad

- 6) En las zonas WUI, las tipologías de mayor riesgo, en términos de sufrir un comportamiento extremo del fuego, dependen en gran medida del tipo y la cantidad de combustible, así como de la configuración de las agrupaciones de edificios. La estructura horizontal del combustible ha sido particularmente útil para explicar el riesgo de incendio, en términos de densidad de ignición y proporción de superficie quemada, pero no muestra gran relevancia para comprender las variaciones espaciales en la severidad del fuego.
- 7) La baja densidad de construcción encerrada en una matriz de matorral homogénea y densa previa al incendio define la tipología WUI más propensa a incendios de alta severidad. Además, las zonas de interfaz dominadas por el combustible forestal con valores bajos de cubierta vegetal, que a menudo tienen un sotobosque denso y continuo de pequeños arbustos, es otra tipología clave propensa a un comportamiento extremo del fuego.

Implicaciones de base científica en la gestión pre-incendio

- 8) Las acciones generales destinadas a reducir el riesgo de incendios forestales extremos deberían implicar, en todas las condiciones climáticas, una reducción de la densidad del combustible en las masas de coníferas mediante técnicas de aclareo, poda o desbroce, principalmente tras largos periodos sin incendios. En las zonas Atlánticas y, en menor medida, en los lugares de Transición o Mediterráneos, también es aconsejable aclarar la acumulación de arbustos maduros y crear manchas de vegetación de edad desigual combinando la limpieza con la quema prescrita. Estas acciones deberían crear rupturas en la continuidad del combustible de escalera y aumentar la heterogeneidad del paisaje, lo que ayuda a reducir la probabilidad de incendios de copa y a mitigar el comportamiento extremo del fuego.
- 9) En las zonas WUI, la línea prioritaria de intervención es el aumento de la heterogeneidad del paisaje, principalmente en WUI aisladas y dispersas encerradas en matrices arbustivas de alta cobertura. El apoyo a las actividades agroforestales y pastorales sostenibles y tradicionales en las zonas rurales es clave, no sólo para la fijación de población, sino también para posibilitar una gestión del paisaje que dificulte los incendios forestales grandes y muy severos.

9. AGRADECIMIENTOS

AGRADECIMIENTOS

Desde que empecé en este camino, siempre imaginé este momento: el de agradecer a todos los que me han acompañado en esta dura pero gratificante aventura que es una Tesis Doctoral. Agradecer por el esfuerzo, el tiempo, la compañía, la guía, las ideas, las risas, el apoyo e incluso el cariño dedicado por quienes han estado cerca durante esta larga etapa. Ha sido un proceso que he ido elaborando a lo largo de todos estos años, con la gratitud como una forma de entender la vida. Sin embargo, durante estos dos últimos años, jamás pensé que llegaría a escribir esta carta, y mucho menos imaginé que lo haría bajo las circunstancias con las que vivo mientras redacto estas líneas, pero como siempre "*Ad Astra Per Aspera*".

Por ello, y como no podía ser de otra manera, quiero comenzar expresándole mi agradecimiento **a mi madre**. Gracias por enseñarme a perseverar y por insistir en que creyera en mí. Siempre dijiste que yo valgo más de lo que yo mismo creo, y aunque aún tengo reticencias, intentaré verme con tus ojos. Nadie como tú me ha enseñado más sobre la vida, especialmente en los últimos años, recordándome que lo importante está en las pequeñas cosas y que el tiempo no vuelve; hay que vivir ahora. Ojalá estuvieras presente en estos días, a pesar de la "turra" que te he dado con la "dichosa Tesis". Espero que estés tan orgullosa de mí como yo lo estoy de la educación, los consejos y el cariño que me diste cada día de tu vida. También agradezco a mi **hermano Sergio** por comprender, entender e intentar empatizar conmigo durante esta etapa. Gracias por sacarme una sonrisa incluso en los momentos más difíciles y por introducirme en el concepto de "fluir" ante las dificultades, algo que hemos aplicado tanto en estos dos últimos años. Mi **padre** también tiene buena culpa de que haya continuado con este proyecto y no haya abandonado en los momentos malos. Quién me hubiera dicho hace 20 años que yo daría clase en la universidad tal y como tu querías. Nunca me quedaron claras las razones de tu insistencia, pero ahora puedo decir con orgullo que lo conseguí.

A pesar de mi trabajo, una tesis doctoral no es únicamente un logro individual, sino que es el resultado de un esfuerzo colectivo de todos los que hemos formado parte de ella. En este sentido, es necesario hacer una mención especial a mis directoras Leonor Calvo y Susana Suárez Seoane. Agradecer a Leo por la oportunidad de hacer esta investigación, por darme independencia para crecer y evolucionar, y por su enorme pasión por toda la ciencia que rodea a los incendios forestales. Nunca olvidaré el apoyo y el afecto durante dos de los periodos personales más difíciles de mi vida. Tu paciencia, dedicación y tenacidad han sido claves para que a pesar de todas las dificultades este barco llegará a puerto. Una aventura que empezó de forma casual en un laboratorio de análisis salmantino, tras la negativa de un jugador de balonmano a trabajar de técnico, y con la que he terminado formando parte de tu carrera investigadora. A Susana, a pesar de la distancia que pronto nos impuso el puerto de Pajares, le quiero agradecer enormemente lo cercana que ha sido siempre conmigo, el apoyo, la fuerza y la calma transmitida para afrontar las dificultades que surgían durante el proceso de investigación. También agradecer la calidad de su recibimiento cada vez que fui a verla, y por organizar que no faltase nada de comer ni en Mieres ni en las sidrerías Tierra Astur de su querida Oviedo. También quiero detallar especialmente mi aprecio y agradecimiento a mi compañero, amigo y director José Manuel, un auténtico genio en esto del mundo científico y en cualquier cosa que se proponga. Lo hemos pasado muy bien estos años, sobre todo en esas largas jornadas de campo conduciendo el 4x4 por los montes castellanoleoneses, perdiéndonos y descubriendo caminos nuevos con nuestra querida Reyes.

Desde el primer día siempre has estado dispuesto a ayudarme y a enseñarme en todo lo que fuese necesario: validaciones, análisis estadísticos, discutir datos, revisiones, y un largo etcétera. Por todo ello siempre tendrás mi reconocimiento y gratitud.

En estos casi 6 años, han sido muchas las personas que han pasado por el Área de Ecología y por el grupo de investigación de Ecología Aplicada y Teledetección (GEAT), y la mayoría de una manera o de otra me han prestado su apovo durante este tiempo, y les debo unas palabras. Empiezo por **Rayo**, mi compañero de fatigas desde el primer día y un amigo para toda la vida con el que he pasado miles de momentos buenos, y al que quiero agradecer especialmente su continua ayuda fuera y dentro de la investigación, y el hecho de sacar siempre un rato para el pincho de media mañana. A Paula García, nuestra compañera internacional, asesora en los primeros años y quien me ha dado un apoyo especial durante todo este tiempo, convirtiendo el café del día a día en eventos, excursiones y planes que hacen la vida más divertida. A mi amiga de la Tierra Media Sara Huerta, con quien tengo miles de cosas en común y he compartido millones de horas, anécdotas y risas, muchas risas que nos han ayudado en gran medida a superar todos los malos momentos. Agradecer también al aventurero Víctor, otro amigo que siempre estuvo ahí tanto para aconsejarme y ayudarme con la discusión de trabajos y modelos estadísticos como para sacarnos una carcajada a todos los presentes con su humor y alegría. A Luz, por ser fiel a su nombre cada día y ayudarme con una sonrisa cuando el mundo se volvía un poco más oscuro. A Reves por endulzarme tanto el final de la tesis como cada salida de campo durante estos años, ya fuese a través de la comida o de los desdichados vaivenes que producen los terrenos irregulares. A Gemma y Luis, por estar siempre pendiente de mí y acogerme tan bien durante estos años. A Elena Marcos, por su sonrisa cada vez que hablamos, por contar conmigo en sus prácticas y por todo lo que me ha enseñado sobre los efectos del fuego en el suelo. A **Ángela**, quién siempre me ha enseñado algo desde el momento que la conocí, ya sea del mundo de la investigación o de la vida, lo que valoro y agradezco profundamente. A Sara Turiel, por su compañía y sus charlas estos últimos años, ya fuese vestidos de maceros o en las divertidas expociencias. Precisamente, agradecer a **Tanis** por introducirme en el increíble mundo del protocolo y los actos universitarios. Ha sido un honor formar parte de tan selecto grupo. A Merce, por recordarme tantas veces que me llamo Víctor, no vaya a ser que me fuese a olvidar, y a **Héctor**, por amenizar las mañanas de laboratorio con sus melodías que espabilaban hasta al más perezoso. También agradecer el apovo a las últimas incorporaciones, Quique e Iván, con quienes ya he compartido momentos fantásticos. También a Alfonso Fernández y Carmen Quintano, por la ayuda y por hacerme participé de los proyectos y de los cursos de formación durante estos años. Un especial recuerdo también por toda la gente que se mueve por el Área de Ecología que han sido siempre amables conmigo y con las que he compartido cafés, comidas y charlas como Paco, Jorge, Alex, Camino (y un especial recuerdo a nuestra querida Marga), Sofía, Eloy, Saúl o María Borrego. También quiero acordarme de todas las chicas y chicos que han pasado durante todos estos años por las residencias de verano y por las prácticas curriculares (Ana, Clara, Dafné, Alba, Sara, Guillermo, Jaime, y muchos más), a los cuales he intentado enseñar lo poco que sabía en campo y laboratorio, así como aprender de ellos todo lo que podía. Entre ellos quiero hacer mención especial a Elena Herrero, a Paula Montes y a su marido Giovanni, con los cúales he disfrutado de cafés y momentos superdivertidos entre mauricios y tortillas. A su vez, agradecer a personas

de otras áreas de la Universidad de León que siempre han sido cercanos, como las **Anas** (**Fernández** y **Vega**), **Luis Felipe Valladares**, o **Raquel Mazé**, así como **Alberto** (el jefe del polen), **Eva** (la maestra de córvidos), o **Laura** (la buscadora de huesos). Pido disculpas si olvido mencionar a alguien; la cantidad de personas maravillosas que han sido parte de mi vida en estos últimos años es tan grande que es posible que se me escape alguien.

Igualmente quiero acordarme de todas las personas independientes de la Universidad de León, con las que he trabajado estos últimos años. En especial, quiero agradecer a a **Pablo Sarricolea**, "el jefecito", por ese recibimiento tan "súper" y tan cálido, por unos meses que fueron fantásticos en un país tan lejano como maravilloso al que seguro volveré, y por esos vinos de la Bodega Cousiño Macul que tan ricos nos supieron. Agradecerte también por la presentación a todos los miembros del Departamento de Geografía de la Universidad de Chile, en especial a Massimiliano **Farris** y esa gran aventura que vivimos de camino a los grandes incendios del centro-sur de Chile, con "animalitos" atropellados, perros gigantes y tinas calientes. También a todo aquel que conocí aquellos días como **Samu**, compañero maño de desventuras durante la estancia; Alexis, el belgacanadiense más latino que conoceré nunca; o **Nico**, ese futbolero de enorme simpatía. Del mismo modo, quiero acordarme de Joao Azevedo, quién me acogío amablemente en mi estancia en el Centro de Investigación de la Montaña (CIMO) del Instituto Politécnico de Braganza, y el cual me ayudo en los últimos meses. De esos días tengo un especial recuerdo de Felipe y Jonathan, con quien compartí buenos momentos de despachos y enriquecedoras charlas de paisajes y futbolistas brasileños. También acordarme de los compañeros del Departamento de Biología de Organismos y Sistemas de la Universidad de Oviedo, como Rubén, Beatriz, Teresa, Vanesa, Borja o Dani, de los cuales conservo un grato recuerdo. Además, quiero hacer mención a cada revisor externo de mis trabajos, que, de manera única, han resaltado algo especial que aportó significativamente a mis trabajos. Agradezco de antemano a los futuros miembros del tribunal, por tomarse el tiempo de analizar, apoyar, criticar y mejorar el presente trabajo, así como a los expertos internacionales Humberto Perotto y Sergio Godinho que lo han validado y refrendado con tan buenas palabras.

Por último, pero sí que más importante, quiero agradecer a **Lidia**, por apoyarme tanto en este trabajo, por aguantar con una paciencia infinita mis pensamientos y frustraciones durante este tiempo, por aventurarte conmigo en esta aventura leonesa, en la que finalmente ha sido nuestra buena suerte. Gracias por las ilusiones compartidas y el esfuerzo en equipo que tan lejos nos ha llevado y que mucho más lejos nos habrá de llevar.

Finalmente, quiero destacar lo afortunado que me siento de haber compartido esté desafío de la Tesis Doctoral con tanta gente. No solo ha sido un viaje académico, sino también una travesía personal de crecimiento. Con este documento, una parte de mis sentimientos se quedan inmortalizados en estas páginas, el resto, la esencia de este viaje, la llevo conmigo. Así que, con esta tesis concluida y en mis manos, me lanzo hacia horizontes desconocidos, llevando conmigo no solo conocimiento sino la esencia misma de la travesía que ha dado forma a quien soy hoy.

En fin, muchísimas gracias a todos, muchísimas gracias por tanto.





